
 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, May 25, 2023                                                                                      Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of May 11, 2023 

 
4. Public Hearing: 20500 S. La Grange Road, Unit 6A – Sage Salon (Ref#106) 

Request: Special Use Permit for Personal Services to operate a hair salon in the B-4 Office District at 20500 
S. La Grange Road, Unit 6A, Frankfort, IL, 60423 (PIN: 19-09-16-400-031-0000). 
 

5. Public Hearing: 9503 Gulfstream Road, Unit A – Nerradical Ridez LLC (Ref#109) 
Request:  Special Use Permit for motorcycle sales and service (aftermarket parts and accessories 
installation) in the I-1 Limited Industrial District, for the property located at 9503 Gulfstream Road, Unit 
A, Frankfort, Illinois (PIN: 19-09-34-302-004-0000). 
 

6. Workshop:  Abbey Woods North 
Future Public Hearing Request: Annexation, Rezoning, and Final Plat of Re-subdivision to create a 26-lot 
single-family residential subdivision (PIN: 19-09-15-300-019-0000).    

 
7. Public Comments 
 
8. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 
9. Other Business 

 
10. Attendance Confirmation (June 8, 2023) 

 
11. Adjournment 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        May 11, 2023 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Schaeffer called the meeting to order at 6:32 PM 

Commissioners Present: Chair Nichole Schaeffer, Brian James, Dan Knieriem, Will 
Markunas, David Hogan, Paula Wallrich 

Commissioners Absent: Jessica Jakubowski 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Senior Planner Christopher Gruba 

Elected Officials Present:  None 

A. Approval of the Minutes from April 27th, 2023 

Motion (#1):  To approve the minutes from April 27th, 2023. 

Motion by: Knieriem  Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (4-0, Commissioners Hogan and Wallrich Abstained)   

Chair Schaeffer swore in members of the public who wanted to provide testimony. 

B. Public Hearing: 99 N. White Street – Quinlan/Aarts Residence 

Chris Gruba presented the staff report.  

Chair Schaeffer invited the applicants to the podium.  Kimberly Quinlan approached the 
podium. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that she noticed a discrepancy between the rendering and 
the plans. 

Kimberly Quinlan responded that the front entry had been widened. The 
Commission/Board may not have the most current plans. 

 
 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 2 
 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that she liked the colonial style window above the front 
entry. She also liked the addition of the stone. 

Kimberly Quinlan confirmed that the 3D rendering is what they are proposing. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked about the Village’s desire for the missing sidewalk on 
Bowen Street. 

Mike Schwarz stated that he will confirm with the Department of Public Works that cash 
in lieu of a sidewalk will be acceptable versus installing the sidewalk as part of the 
construction of the home. 

Commissioner Markunas asked the applicant if any house walls were moving on the lot 
due to the widening of the front entry.   

The applicant stated that they were not making any changes to the proposed exterior 
walls. 

Chris Gruba stated that a condition could be attached to the 1st floor masonry variation 
that the elevations be updated to match the rendering. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if there were any other members of the public wanting to 
speak. There were none. 

Motion #2:  Close the public hearing. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Wallrich 

Approved: (6-0)   

Chair Schaeffer asked the members if there were any comments on the first variation 
request related to first floor exterior materials.  Commissioner Markunas stated that the 
proposed building elevations look nice.  There were no other comments. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the members if there were any comments on the second variation 
request related to a reduction in the minimum lot area as required by the Zoning 
Ordinance.  There were no comments. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the members if there were any comments on the third variation 
request related to a reduction in the minimum lot area as required by the Subdivision 
Ordinance.  There were no comments. 

 

 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 3 
 

There was a brief discussion about whether or not the last two variations should be 
combined.  It was decided that separate motions were preferred. 

Motion (#3): To approve a variation related to 1st floor building materials subject to the 
condition that the building elevations be updated to match the color building rendering 

Motion by: Knieriem                    Seconded by: James 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#4): To approve a variation related the minimum lot area per the Zoning 
Ordinance   

Motion by: James                    Seconded by: Wallrich 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#5):   To approve a variation related the minimum lot area per the Land 
Subdivision Regulations 

Motion by: Markunas                    Seconded by: Wallrich 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#6): To approve the Benjamin’s Way Plat of Subdivision, subject to the 
condition that the applicants shall either install a public sidewalk along the Bowen Street 
property frontage as required by the Land Subdivision Regulations, or shall provide the 
equivalent cash-in-lieu amount of said sidewalk, subject to the approval of the 
Department of Public Works.   

Motion by: Wallrich                    Seconded by: Hogan 

Approved: (6-0) 

C. Public Hearing: 8563 Stone Creek – Maida Residence 

Chris Gruba presented the staff report.  

He further explained the landscape height limitation and stated that perhaps the plantings 
can be swapped out to comply. 

The applicant Jordan Snapp Maida stated her request.  She stated that she received 
special approval from the HOA.  This fence is in her back yard.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any initial questions from the other members. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 4 
 

Commissioner Markunas asked if she received any of the Certified Mail green cards 
back. 

The applicant responded yes just today. She submitted these for the record.  She added 
that several neighbors were not able to send her letters of support today. 

Commissioner Hogan asked staff to clarify the fence height requirement. 

Chris Gruba provided a response. 

Commissioner Wallrich asked about the scale of the plan in the packet versus the aerial 
exhibit. 

Chris Gruba responded that the survey in the packet was to scale whereas the Landscape 
Plan or Fence Plan was not exactly to scale. 

Commissioner Wallrich discussed the need to meet the Findings of Fact.  She does not 
believe that there is a hardship.  She stated that the 4’ landscaping could deter a dog. She 
found other homes in the neighborhood that met Code. She asked why her property is any 
different than those. 

Ms. Snapp Maida stated that her request is for the safety of her child. There is a property 
near the park that has a taller fence at the SWC of High Stone and Pine Ridge (8581). 

Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any other initial questions from the members.   

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant would be comfortable with a 4’ fence. 

Ms. Snapp Maida replied that she would not. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if the home to the north has a fence. 

Ms. Snapp Maida stated that they just installed one. The neighbor has a pitbull. 

With no other initial questions, Chair Schaeffer asked if there was anyone from the public 
that wanted to provide testimony. There was no response. 

Motion #7:  Close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Markunas    Seconded by:  Hogan 

Approved: (6-0)   

Commissioner Knieriem stated that this is a civil matter.  Adults should have 
conversations.  If there is an issue with the dog, she can contact the Police. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 5 
 

Commissioner James stated that he also has a neighbor with a Pitbull. He and his 
neighbor do not have fences.  He does not see that there is a hardship. 

Commissioner Wallrich suggested that an invisible fence might be an option even though 
it would add an expense for the neighbor. 

Commissioner Hogan asked the applicant if landscaping could be used for a barrier 
instead.   

Ms. Snapp Maida responded that she prefers not to go with that option. 

Chair Schaeffer summarized that there is no hardship. She stated that they could try to 
work with her on a combination of fence and landscaping. 

Commissioner Wallrich clarified that if the applicant can comply with Code, then there is 
no need for the PC/ZBA to take action. 

Chris Gruba stated the voting options for the PC/ZBA. 

Commissioner Markunas suggested that the applicant request to table. 

Commissioner Wallrich stated that there is nothing to work out. 

Motion (#8): To re-open the Public Hearing. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by: James 

Approved: (6-0) 

Motion (#9): To keep open and continue the Public Hearing to June 8, 2023. 

Motion by: Knieriem    Seconded by: James 

Approved: (6-0) 

D. Public Hearing: 7654 W. Lincoln Highway – Circle K Redevelopment 

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report.  

The PC/ZBA paused the meeting for a break at 8:04 pm.  

The PC/ZBA reconvened at 8:12 pm.  

The applicant, Ryan Swanson, approached the podium to provide additional information.   

Commissioner Knieriem asked what the relationship is between Circle K and Shell. Mr. 
Swanson noted that in the Chicagoland area, Circle K uses Shell branding and sell Shell 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 6 
 

fuel.  Commissioner Knieriem questioned whether Circle K usually stands alone and Mr. 
Swanson responded yes.  

Mr. Swanson noted that since the last workshop meeting, they had been refining the 
engineering for the property and they think they have settled on a good product and 
design. He noted the following:  

• Due to the existing drive-through for the bank to the east, it did not make sense to 
connect the two properties with a vehicle connection, which would have been 
awkward.  

• There are currently 5 gas dispensers in an odd configuration.  

• The gas station is very busy on any given day and that it is profitable.   

• A sidewalk connection was added to the building, added many more trees and 
greenspace.   

• The closing of two of the four driveways helped add more greenspace, albeit 
mostly in the right-of-way.  

• The monument sign would replace the pylon sign.   

• There is no on-site detention now, but that underground stormwater chambers 
would be installed on site.   

• The site meets and exceeds the landscaping requirements.   

• The traffic circulation is much improved and motorists would no longer be 
blocked in as they are currently.  

• There would be diesel sales.   

• They looked into masonry columns at the corners of the building but that it didn’t 
look right so they didn’t include it.   

• The design is a newer prototype for Circle K.  The building does have full 
parapets to screen rooftop mechanical units.  

• Substantial right-of-way was dedicated to Route 30 which reduces the depth of 
the site.  From the back of the curb of Lincoln Highway to the paved area under 
the canopy is approximately 32’ of greenspace, although mostly within the right-
of-way.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 7 
 

• They looked at purchasing some land from the bank to the north of the subject 
property, but there is a water and sewer line in this small strip, making this land 
somewhat unusable for their needs.  

• Regarding the size of the ground sign, it was the height of the gas price numbers 
that determined the rest of the size of the sign.  They wanted the numbers to be at 
least 3’ tall to be clearly visible to motorists, giving them enough time to see the 
price and decide to make the turn to enter the gas station.  

• The Shell branding “red bars” are very important for the canopy.  

 Chair Schaeffer asked the Commission for comments regarding the use of the property 
per the 2019 Comprehensive Plan.  All commissioners agreed that it complied with the 
2019 Comprehensive Plan.  Commissioner Wallrich asked staff what the land to the north 
was designated for in the 2019 Comprehensive Plan.  Staff noted that it was slated for 
single-family residential.  Commissioner Wallrich noted that because it was residential 
that there should be more of a landscape buffer provided between the gas station and the 
land to the north.  She thought that the applicant should investigate purchasing land from 
the bank, which may be of very little value to the bank, to use for a wider landscape 
buffer. This would provide a better separation between the gas station and any future 
residents when the land to the north is developed.  

 Chair Schaeffer asked whether this 20’ wide easement owned by the bank is buildable.  

 Commissioner Knieriem noted that landscaping could still be planted in the utility 
easement but that it may need to be removed in the future if utility work were required. 
He noted that there is already over 30’ of greenspace between the gas canopy and the 
street, so even though it’s mostly located in the right-of-way it still functions as 
greenspace.  

 Commissioner James asked whether there was actually enough room to construct single-
family homes on the property to the north.  Commissioner Hogan agreed that single-
family homes to the north is likely unfeasible.   

 Chair Schaeffer noted that although the 2019 Comprehensive Plan should be followed as 
much as possible, conditions are subject to change and that there is not a high likelihood 
that the property to the north would be developed for single-family homes.  

 Schwarz noted that the bank may not want to sell this 20’ wide strip of land at all.  

 Commissioner Knieriem asked if the applicant still had room to plant additional trees on 
the subject property along the north property line.  Chair Schaeffer agreed with this 
recommendation. Mr. Swanson noted that there is a gap behind the building in which 
additional landscaping could be planted, although there is a significant drop off on the 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 8 
 

north side so they may need to be creative with plantings. Chair Schaeffer thanked Mr. 
Swanson for all the additional landscaping that was included since the workshop.  

 Chair Schaeffer asked the Commission for comments regarding the proposed zoning and 
Special Use permits, specifically about liquor sales and the proposed use as a gas station.  

 Commissioner Knieriem said that there have been some policing issues in the past in the 
area of Route 30 and Harlem. He does not support the sales of liquor until 1 am.  Mike 
Schwarz noted that the Village would not allow liquor sales as late as 1 am, nor are they 
seeking 24-hour sales.  Chair Schaeffer said she thought that the County allows 24-hour 
liquor sales and that the property is currently located in the County.  

 Commissioner Wallrich said that she was involved special use permits for liquor sales for 
properties on Laraway and Wolf, both of which were annexations. At the time, the 
Village was in a strong position to negotiate the terms of the annexation agreements. She 
feels that the Village is also in a strong position to negotiate today with Circle K’s current 
request.  

 Mr. Swanson said that Cirlce K is willing to negotiate the hours of operation.  However, 
this location currently does very well revenue-wise and that they may opt to remain in the 
County if the Village requested too much.  Commissioner Wallrich said that both the 
Village and Circle K should be able to work together to the benefit of both parties.  She 
said that Circle K has made a lot of concessions already.  

 Mike Schwarz stated that in the proposed building, no more than 10 percent of the 
customer floor area, or 324 square feet, may be devoted to the sale of alcohol.  As 
proposed, they would have refrigerated section of 301 square feet with the remaining 23 
square feet non-refrigerated, complying with the maximum area which is permitted.  

 Chair Schaeffer next asked for comments regarding the site plan.  

 Commissioner Hogan said that the size of the proposed entrance along Route 30 seemed 
a little narrow. Mr. Swanson said that the widest driveway permitted by IDOT is 35’, 
which is what they are proposing (inside the curbs).  He noted that this width does make 
it wide enough for fuel trucks to enter.  Commissioner Hogan said he was worried about 
the speed of traffic on Route 30 and if motorists could safely slow down to enter the site 
considering the width of the driveway.  

 Commissioner Wallrich said it was great that they reduced the number of access points 
from 4 to 2. Mr. Swanson said that they have conceptual approval from IDOT.  
Commissioner Wallrich asked that since there are 36 proposed parking spaces, if there 
should be at least 2 ADA (handicap) spaces.  Mr. Swanson responded that there were less 
than 25 spaces not including those spaces at the fuel pumps, but when the fuel pump 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 9 
 

spaces were included, the total rises to 36. He said that he could turn one of the other 
regular spaces into an ADA space for a total of 2 ADA spaces.  

 Commissioner Wallrich asked if staff determined the number of employees working on 
site.  Mr. Swanson said that there are typically 2-3 employees on site at any given time. 
Commissioner Wallrich said she’d like the Commission to comment on the amount of 
merchandise to be displayed outside.  She said that staff had spent a lot of time discussing 
where outdoor merchandise could be displayed for Home Depot and BP Gas.  She wants 
to have a clear idea for display area and stacking height.  She said that in the past, the 
outdoor display merchandise could not be stacked higher than the bottom of the window 
on the building (to not obstruct the view of inside the building or looking out of the 
building).  Commissioner Knieriem agreed with this recommendation.   

 Commissioner Wallrich asked the applicant if they agreed with staff’s recommendation 
for the relocation of the vacuum and air machines as currently depicted on the Site Plan; 
Mr. Swanson responded that he did.  

 Chair Schaeffer noted that the applicant is proposing wood fencing around the trash 
enclosure.  Commissioners Wallrich and Knieriem both said they thought that the 
enclosure should be masonry to match the building.   

 Commissioner Knieriem asked if the Commission could further clarify the location and 
height of the outdoor display of merchandise.  Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant for his 
opinion of where and how outdoor merchandise could be displayed.  Mr. Swanson said 
that Circle K is amenable to the Commission’s suggestions.  He said that they typically 
display seasonal items and don’t have the larger palletized items as much.  

 Mike Schwarz noted that as an annexation agreement, the outdoor display of merchandise 
could be more stringent than what the Code allows.  He noted that because the proposed 
building is larger than the existing one, more items for sale could be stored inside the 
building.  He did note that the sales of propane (in tanks within a cage) could be placed 
outside the building, perhaps on the east side and less visible than in front of the building; 
Commissioner Markunas agreed with this suggestion.  Commissioner Knieriem asked the 
applicant if they would be amenable to storing bulk materials on the west side of the 
building instead only instead of the south (front) side.  Mr. Swanson said that he would 
discuss this with Circle K.  

 Chair Schaeffer said that she would prefer that the propane tanks for sale should only be 
on the east side of the building.  Commissioner Knieriem agreed.  Commissioner Hogan 
said that he’s noticed very little merchandise for sale outside of nicer gas stations in the 
Village.  Commissioner Knieriem reiterated his preference for not storing merchandise in 
front of the building (south elevation).  Mike Schwarz noted that the revised site plan 
would outline the exact places where outdoor merchandise could be displayed.  Chair 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 10 
 

Schaeffer said that the typical Blue Rhino propane tanks should be stored on the east side 
and could be taller; they don’t have to try to find an undersized cage for the propane. 

 Chair Schaeffer next asked the Commission for comments regarding landscaping.  Mr. 
Swanson said that there is an underground “chamber” system for stormwater storage in 
the center of the site.  There is also some surface stormwater detention at the southwest 
corner near the street intersection. Commissioner Knieriem asked if the underground 
chamber system drained into the storm sewer with a restrictor.  Mr. Swanson responded 
yes.  

 Commissioner Wallrich noted that some elements on the landscape plan seemed 
incorrect, such as having the right key codes for the plantings.  She also noted that 
Burning Bushes are now considered invasive species and these should be replaced with 
something else which is native.  She said that the existing landscaping along Route 30 
looks full on the landscape plan but looks a little sparse/sickly in reality.  She also asked 
the applicant not to use red stone mulch.  She asked the applicant if the existing overhead 
ComEd electric service line would be buried; Mr. Swanson responded yes.  

 Chair Schaeffer asked for more evergreens on the landscape plan.  

 There were no comments regarding the proposed engineering.  

 Chair Schaeffer asked the Commission for comments regarding the architecture. 
Commissioner Knieriem said he was comfortable with the proposed “Nichiha” paneling 
on the building, which is not a cheap material.  Commissioner Markunas asked the 
applicant if Nichiha is a cement board panel. Mr. Swanson responded yes and that it is 
extremely durable.  Chair Schaeffer asked what the lifespan is of Nichiha.  Mr. Swanson 
was not sure but he would investigate that.  Mike Schwarz stated that according to a 
Google search, Nichiha has a 30-year warranty.  The Commission also asked Mr. 
Swanson to check on the lifespan of the proposed wood paneling as well.  

 Commissioner Wallrich said that she has big concerns about the proposed building 
materials and that they don’t meet the standards for the Village. She said that all other gas 
stations use solid brick, not thin brick.  She said that in the past, the Commission has 
approved EIFS for accent features only.  She said that the building should be stone or 
brick, like most other commercial buildings in the Village.  She said that the faux stone 
paneling will show visible seams and it doesn’t look as good as real brick.  She noted that 
Walgreen’s and McDonald’s in the Village have real masonry exteriors. She is not in 
favor of the red band along the top of the building in the front.  She also thought that the 
trash enclosure should be full masonry to match the building.  She asked the applicant 
why they are proposing the materials as noted.  Mr. Swanson said that this was mainly a 
function of cost, especially in light of the large costs for the underground stormwater 
detention system, pedestrian crossing devices, etc.  Commissioner Wallrich said that the 
Village does not typically accept prototype architecture. For example, Walgreen’s and 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 11 
 

Steak & Shake, Taco Bell, Aldi, Home Depot and Kohl’s in the Village are not their 
prototype architecture.  She said that the Village should look for unique architecture.  

 Commissioner Markunas didn’t believe that the Village has ever approved thin brick on 
non-masonry products in the past and that not using regular masonry is a concern. He 
said that Nichiha is typically used for accent features and not entire façades.  
Commissioner Wallrich asked the applicant to provide a cost comparison for the 
proposed materials and regular brick and said that Circle K could petition the Village to 
use a cheaper material.  Commissioner Markunas thanked the applicant for proposing a 
full parapet height to screen mechanical units completely.  

 Commissioner Schaeffer then asked the Commission for comments regarding lighting. 
She asked staff if the proposed lighting met Code or whether a variation was being 
sought.  Mike Schwarz responded that the proposed lighting complies with the Zoning 
Ordinance. Commissioner Markunas asked staff to provide details for the light poles and 
that they should incorporate stone bases to match the design of the building.  

 Commissioner Schaeffer asked the Commission for comments regarding signage. 
Commissioner Wallrich asked staff if the height of the ground sign was being increased 
from 6 to 7 feet, not 7 to 8 feet.  Mike Schwarz responded that it was from 6 to 7 feet.  
Commissioner Wallrich asked if this height included the base; Mike Schwarz responded 
yes.  Commissioner Wallrich said she thought that the Shell logo isn’t typically depicted 
on the ground sign.  She was concerned that if Shell Gas stopped branding with Circle K, 
that the Shell logo would be replaced with an image of product sold in the building such 
as Polar Pop.  She was not in favor of advertising products on the ground sign and that 
this should be a future condition of approval.  

 Commissioner Knieriem noted that it was the height of the digital display for the gas 
price numbers that was driving the overall height and dimensions of the ground sign. 
Commissioner Markunas said that the applicant should revise the sign to meet the 
standards of the Sign Code.  Commissioner James said that at the workshop meeting, the 
Commission asked the applicant to comply with the Sign Code and that he’s not in favor 
of a 7’ tall ground sign.  

 Commissioner Wallrich noted that BP was allowed a taller ground sign.  She said that 
she’s less concerned about height and more concerned about the sign area.  

 Commissioner Hogan noted that the amount of proposed landscaping would soften the 
appearance of the size of the sign.   

 Commissioner Wallrich asked the applicant if they could add a masonry component 
around the ground sign.  She said that if a masonry frame were added around the sides 
and top of the ground sign, that it would not be counted toward the area or height of the 
sign.  Mike Schwarz confirmed this to be true.  Commissioners Schaeffer, Markunas and 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 12 
 

Knieriem expressed their preference for this masonry framing.  Commissioner Knieriem 
said that adding a masonry frame around the ground sign could be a compromise for the 
height and size of the ground sign.  

 Chair Schaeffer asked for comments regarding the red bar banding and backlighting on 
the gas pump canopy.  All commissioners were in agreement that the red bar should not 
be backlit.   

 Commissioner Hogan said that Circle K is proposing the colors for the canopy and that 
not having it may be a deal-breaker for Circle K.  

 Commissioner Wallrich noted that the Shell logo would still be placed on the canopy.  
For comparison, she noted that BP does not have a green band on all sides of the gas 
pump canopy.  

 Commissioner James said that this gas station would be one of the first commercial 
buildings that motorists see when they enter the Village and that it should have a more 
subdued canopy.  Commissioners Schaeffer and Markunas agreed with this statement.  

 Commissioner Wallrich asked about having the wording “V-Power” at the top of the gas 
pumps.  She said she was ok with this and the other commissioners also agreed.  

 Commissioner Shaeffer said that she doesn’t consider the proposed red banding at the top 
of the building’s front façade to be signage but asked the Commission for their opinions.  
Commissioner Wallrich said that it wouldn’t look good to incorporate a red band on 
masonry.  Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant to investigate wrapping the building 
completely in brick.  There was consensus among the Commission to remove the red 
band at the top of the front façade.  

Motion (#10): To continue and keep open the Public Hearing until June 22, 2023.    

Motion by: Wallrich                    Seconded by: James 

Approved: (6-0) 

E. Workshop: 742 Franklin Avenue – Raimondi Residence Corner Side Yard 
Variation 

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report.  He noted a correction in the staff report that the 
pool would actually be an above-ground pool, not inground pool.  

The applicant, Steve Raimondi, approached the podium. He indicated that if the pool 
were placed behind the required 30’ corner side yard setback, it would block the line of 
sight from the rear of his house to the end of his lot.  He also believed that locating the 
above-ground pool in the center of the backyard would depreciate the value of his 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 13 
 

property.  He stated that there was once an above ground pool on the property, perhaps 
around 1996 and asked if there was a pool there before, if it could be reinstalled.  

Mike Schwarz noted that there is an existing underground electric service line that runs 
diagonally across the rear of the lot as illustrated on the site plan.  This electric service 
line would be located approximately 5’ from the base of the pool.   

Chair Schaeffer asked for comments from the Commission regarding the proposed 
setback of the pool and proposed landscaping for screening.  

Commissioner Markunas clarified that the main hardship that the applicant was claiming 
was the line of sight in the backyard.  The applicant confirmed this.  Commissioner 
Markunas asked if there could be a different location for the proposed pool.  He asked 
staff what the width of the property is at the location of the proposed pool. Mike Schwarz 
noted that the lot width meets the R-2 zone standard.  Commissioner Markunas asked 
staff what the required setback is for an underground electric service line to a pool.  Mike 
Schwarz noted that the minimum separation requirement is 5’.  There was some 
discussion that due to the location of the underground electric service line, the foundation 
for the pool would need to be dug by hand.  

Mr. Raimondi asked if the presence of the underground electric service line could be 
considered a hardship.  Commissioner Markunas responded that it would be considered a 
hardship if he had to relocate the electric service line, but that he may not end up needing 
to relocate it.   

Commissioner Hogan asked whether the pool could be angled on the property to meet 
both the 30’ setback from Elsner and avoid the underground electric service line.  

Commissioner Wallrich noted that the applicant has already purchased the above-ground 
pool and that this fact should not be considered a hardship.  
 
Mr. Raimondi asked if the line of sight was a hardship.  The commission responded that 
it was not.  
 
Commissioner Wallrich noted that the recent renovations to the façade of the house are 
impressive and appreciated.  
 
Commissioner James asked if the minimum 5’ separation requirement was measured 
from the electric service line to the water of the pool or the pool decking.  Staff 
responded that the separation is measured to the water’s edge.  Commissioner James 
responded that the decking could therefore be placed closer to the electric service line.  
Commissioner Wallrich noted that the decking is considered part of the pool and is 
therefore subject to the setback requirements for the pool as an accessory structure.  
 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 5/11/23 | Page 14 
 

Chair Schaeffer noted that the existing landscaping along Elsner Road is technically 
located in the right-of-way and that it may need to be removed by the Village in the 
future, or the vegetation could suffer blight and die.  Commissioner Knieriem asked if the 
applicant could plant some evergreens on his property to screen the above ground pool 
from Elsner Road.  
 
The applicant was asked if he was given clear direction and he concurred.  
 

F. Public Comments 

There were no public comments. 

G. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz notified the Plan Commission of two recent Village Board approvals: 

• On May 1st, the Village Board approved the entitlements for 7 N. White Street 
(Integrus) including the Major Change to the PUD, four Special Use Permits, one 
variation to waive all required parking and the Preliminary/Final Plat of 
Subdivision. 

• On May 1st, the Village Board approved the Plat of Dedication for the Pfeiffer 
Road Extension.  
 

H. Other Business 

There was no other business.  

I. Attendance Confirmation (May 25th, 2023) 

Chair Schaeffer asked the members of the Plan Commission to notify staff if they know 
they would not be able to attend the May 25th meeting.  

Motion (#11): Adjournment 10:27 P.M. 

Motion by: Markunas  Seconded by: Wallrich 

The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote. 

Approved May 25th, 2023 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Nichie Schaeffer, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 



  1 

                                          

Plan Commission / ZBA         May 25, 2023 

 
Project: Sage Boutique Salon    
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: Special Use (Personal Services) 
Location: 20500 S. La Grange Road, Suite 6A 
Subdivision:  None (Mannheim Square)  
Applicant:  Talitha Henison 
Prop. Owner: 3D Frankfort II, LLC 
Representative: Same as applicant 
Report by: Mike Schwarz 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 1.29 acres                      Figure 1. Location Map 
PIN: 19-09-16-400-031-0000 
Existing Zoning:  B-4 Office District 
Proposed Zoning: B-4 Office District with a Special Use for Personal 

Services 
Buildings: 1 building (11,500 square feet) 
Total Sq. Ft.: 600 square feet (tenant space) 

  
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use FLU Map Zoning 

Subject Property Offices General 
Commercial 

B-4 

North RV Rentals General 
Commercial 

B-2 

South  Restaurant General 
Commercial 

B-4 

East Retail General 
Commercial 

B-2 PUD 

West  Offices General 
Commercial 

B-4 

Project Summary  
 

The applicant currently operates a salon within the office building known as Mannheim Square at 20855 S. La 
Grange Road. According to the applicant, the space is used as both a salon and an office. The 600-square foot 
tenant space includes three stylist stations, two washing stations, and an office.  The Plan Commission/Zoning 
Board of Appeals conducted a workshop on this application at its meeting on April 27, 2023.  The Meeting Minutes 
are attached. 
 

Attachments 
• Location Map, prepared by staff  
• Site Plan for Mannheim Square with tenant space outlined in red 
• Floorplan for the proposed tenant space prepared by the applicant 
• Site photos taken on 04.06.23 
• Minutes of the 4.27.23 PC/ZBA Workshop Meeting 
• Special Use Findings of Fact prepared by applicant 
• Special Use Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 

 

 



  2 

Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

Use, Occupancy, and Space 

• The business operates between 9:00 AM and 5:00 PM on Wednesday, Thursday, and Friday, and between 
8:00 AM and 3:00 PM on Saturdays. The salon is closed on Sunday, Monday, and Tuesday, though the 
applicant has indicated that she uses the tenant space as an office (and does not see any clients) when the 
salon is closed.   
 

• The submitted floorplan depicts three stylist stations in the tenant space, in addition to two washing 
stations. The applicant has indicated to staff that she would hire no more than two stylists to work in the 
space simultaneously. This would result in, at most, six people to be on site at any time. However, she has 
also noted that most often, only one stylist works at a time, suggesting that fewer than six people are on-
site at a time. As noted above, the applicant also uses the space as an office outside of salon hours.  
 

Parking  
 

• Per the Zoning Ordinance, Personal Services require 1 parking space per 200 square feet of gross floor 
area and one space per employee in the largest shift. The tenant space is 600 square feet in area, and as 
noted above, the business would have at most three employees on-site at one time. Therefore, the 
proposed use would require six parking spaces.  
 

• The existing parking lot for Mannheim Square has a total of 43 parking spaces. The two lots on site have a 
shared total of 41 parking spaces, with an additional two spaces located in a garage on the northwest 
corner of the building. The following table breaks down the parking requirements for the other existing 
units within Mannheim Square.  
 

Tenant Spaces Per Employee Spaces Per Square 
Footage 

Zoning Ordinance 
Required Parking per 

Tenant 
Lash & Brow House 7 (7 employees in the 

largest shift) 
6 (1 per 200 SF) 13 

Farmers Insurance N/A 5 (1 per 200 SF) 5 
Le Studio Salon 3 (estimated) 5 (1 per 200 SF) 8 
Vacant 0 0 0 
Sage Salon (applicant) 3 (3 employees in the 

largest shift) 
3 (1 per 200 SF) 6 

IDOT N/A 3 (1 per 200 SF) 3 
A+ Dental N/A 24 (3 per exam room, 8 

exam rooms; estimated) 
24 

All Smiles Orthodontist N/A 24 (3 per exam room, 8 
exam rooms) 

24 

Residence and 
Management Office 

N/A 9 (1 per 200 SF) 9 

Infinite Global 
Management 

N/A 3 (1 per 200 SF) 3 

Total Zoning Ordinance 
Required Parking 

  95 Parking Spaces (43 
Existing) 

 



  3 

• Even though the existing parking is not sufficient to meet the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance, staff 
has not observed any shortage of parking at Mannheim Square during the week. This includes the parking 
demand generated by the applicant’s business, which is currently in operation. In addition, the Village’s 
Code Enforcement Officer has not received any complaints related to insufficient parking. 

 
• A majority of the Zoning Ordinance required parking results from the orthodontist and dentist offices. At 

the time of writing, staff was able to determine the required parking for the orthodontist, but has been 
unable to contact the dentist to confirm the number of exam rooms at their location. Staff instead has 
estimated the number of exam rooms based on the information received from the orthodontist’s office, 
which occupies a suite the same size as the dentist’s office. Each use then requires 24 parking spaces per 
the Zoning Ordinance. Combined, these two uses make up half of the -required parking spaces.  
 

Adjustments to Required Parking  
 

For reference during the workshop, Article 7, Part 5 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance describes the 
circumstances in which the Plan Commission may adjust the minimum number of required parking spaces in the 
business and industrial districts on a case-by-case basis.  

 
a.     Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow adjustments to the minimum number of parking spaces 

required to avoid construction of unnecessary and excessive off-street parking facilities. Reducing the 
requirements for off-street parking facilities is intended to provide for more cost-efficient site 
development, to minimize impervious surface, to minimize storm water runoff, to avoid construction of 
unnecessarily large storm water management facilities, and to provide more landscape areas and open 
space on business and industrial sites. To achieve these purposes, the Plan Commission may reduce the 
minimum number of required off-street parking spaces in specific cases as described in this Part 5.  

 
b.     Adjustments. In all business and industrial districts, the minimum number of required parking spaces may 

be adjusted by the Plan Commission on a case-by-case basis. The petitioner for such an adjustment shall 
show to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that adequate parking will be provided for customers, 
clients, visitors, and employees. The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust 
parking requirements:  

 
1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements. The petitioner 

shall submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that the 
operation will require less parking than the Ordinance requires.  

 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written documentation to 

the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared or off-site parking spaces are available to 
satisfy the parking demand.  

 
a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either parking lots are large 

enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or that parking spaces will be shared at 
specific times of the day (shared parking, where one activity uses the spaces during daytime 
hours and another activity uses the spaces during evening hours.)  
 

b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the required parking and shall 
be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet from the principal use that it is intended to 
serve. 

 
When a reduction of parking spaces attributable to shared parking or off-site parking is requested, the petitioner 
shall submit written verification that such parking is available and shall include copies of any contracts, joint lease 
agreements, purchase agreements, and other such documentation to show that shared parking can be 
accomplished. Off-site shared parking spaces shall be clearly posted for the joint use of employees, and/or tenants, 
or customers of each respective use sharing those spaces.  



  4 

 
3. Use of Alternative Transportation. Upon demonstration to the Plan Commission that effective 

alternative transportation to the automobile will occur, the Plan Commission may reduce parking 
requirements. Alternative transportation may include, but is not limited to, bus transit, van pool 
operations, car pool/ride sharing, and bicycles. Proposals for adjustments of parking under this 
section shall show how the alternative transportation modes will be implemented, the permanency 
of such modes, extent of the program, the number of vehicles the mode will replace, and other 
pertinent information.  

 
c.     Banked Parking Spaces. As a condition of a reduction in parking requirements, the Plan Commission may 

require banked parking spaces. In such cases, the site plan for the business or industrial use shall provide 
sufficient open space on the subject site to accommodate the additional parking space otherwise required 
by this Ordinance. Such open space shall be in addition to required yards, setbacks, driveways, private 
streets, loading and service areas. Sufficient open space shall be provided which, if converted to parking 
spaces, would:  

 
1. provide off-street parking to meet the full requirements of this Ordinance at the time of application, 

and  
2. ensure that the site shall not exceed the maximum impervious lot coverage as set forth in Article 6. 

 
Based on observation, staff believes that the existing parking lot with 43 available spaces is large enough to 
accommodate the current mix of tenants (joint parking).  From a practical standpoint, the Plan Commission/Zoning 
Board of Appeals is not being asked to approve a parking adjustment for the proposed hair salon/office.  Instead, 
the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals may wish to acknowledge the existing parking condition for the 
record.  
 

Standards for Special Use 
 
No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  

 
c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  

 
e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, 
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 



  5 

 
Findings for Consideration 
 
The Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals finds: 
 

1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   

 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property 
values within the neighborhood.  

 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood.  

 
5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Affirmative Motion  
 
For the Commission’s consideration, staff provides the following potential affirmative motion: 
 
Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use Permit for Personal Services to operate a 
hair salon at 20500 S. La Grange Road, Unit 6A, Frankfort, IL, 60423 (PIN: 19-09-16-400-031-0000), in accordance 
with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 
 
 



N
o

te
s

A
e

ri
a

l 
P

h
o

to
 -

 2
0

5
0

0
 S

. 
L

a
 G

ra
n

g
e

 R
o

a
d

D
is

cl
a

im
e

r 
o

f 
W

a
rr

a
n

tie
s 

a
n

d
 A

cc
u

ra
cy

 o
f 
D

a
ta

: 
A

lth
o

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 d

a
ta

 d
e

ve
lo

p
e

d
 b

y 
W

ill
 C

o
u

n
ty

 f
o

r 
its

 m
a

p
s,

 w
e

b
si

te
s,

 a
n

d
 G

e
o

g
ra

p
h

ic
 I
n

fo
rm

a
tio

n
 S

ys
te

m
 h

a
s 

b
e

e
n

 p
ro

d
u

ce
d

 a
n

d
 p

ro
ce

ss
e

d
 

fr
o

m
 s

o
u

rc
e

s 
b

e
lie

ve
d

 t
o

 b
e

 r
e

lia
b

le
, 
n

o
 w

a
rr

a
n

ty
, 
e

xp
re

ss
e

d
 o

r 
im

p
lie

d
, 
is

 m
a

d
e

 r
e

g
a

rd
in

g
 a

cc
u

ra
cy

, 
a

d
e

q
u

a
cy

, 
co

m
p

le
te

n
e

ss
, 
le

g
a

lit
y,

 r
e

lia
b

ili
ty

 o
r 

u
se

fu
ln

e
ss

 o
f 

a
n

y 
in

fo
rm

a
tio

n
. 

T
h

is
 

d
is

cl
a

im
e

r 
a

p
p

lie
s 

to
 b

o
th

 is
o

la
te

d
 a

n
d

 a
g

g
re

g
a

te
 u

se
s 

o
f 
th

e
 in

fo
rm

a
tio

n
. 
T

h
e

 C
o

u
n

ty
 a

n
d

 e
le

ct
e

d
 o

ff
ic

ia
ls

 p
ro

vi
d

e
 t
h

is
 in

fo
rm

a
tio

n
 o

n
 a

n
 "

a
s 

is
" 

b
a

si
s.

 A
ll 

w
a

rr
a

n
tie

s 
o

f 
a

n
y 

ki
n

d
, 

e
xp

re
ss

 o
r 

im
p

lie
d

, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 b

u
t 

n
o

t 
lim

ite
d

 t
o

 t
h

e
 im

p
lie

d
 w

a
rr

a
n

tie
s 

o
f 
m

e
rc

h
a

n
ta

b
ili

ty
, 
fit

n
e

ss
 f
o

r 
a

 p
a

rt
ic

u
la

r 
p

u
rp

o
se

, 
fr

e
e

d
o

m
 f
ro

m
 c

o
n

ta
m

in
a

tio
n

 b
y 

co
m

p
u

te
r 

vi
ru

se
s 

o
r 

h
a

ck
e

rs
 a

n
d

 n
o

n
-i

n
fr

in
g

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

ri
e

ta
ry

 r
ig

h
ts

 a
re

 d
is

cl
a

im
e

d
. 
C

h
a

n
g

e
s 

m
a

y 
b

e
 p

e
ri

o
d

ic
a

lly
 m

a
d

e
 t
o

 t
h

e
 in

fo
rm

a
tio

n
 h

e
re

in
; 
th

e
se

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s 
m

a
y 

o
r 

m
a

y 
n

o
t 
b

e
 in

co
rp

o
ra

te
d

 in
 a

n
y 

n
e

w
 v

e
rs

io
n

 o
f 

th
e

 p
u

b
lic

a
tio

n
. 

If
 y

o
u

 
h

a
ve

 o
b

ta
in

e
d

 in
fo

rm
a

tio
n

 f
ro

m
 a

n
y 

o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

 w
e

b
 p

a
g

e
s 

fr
o

m
 a

 s
o

u
rc

e
 o

th
e

r 
th

a
n

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

 p
a

g
e

s,
 b

e
 a

w
a

re
 t
h

a
t 
e

le
ct

ro
n

ic
 d

a
ta

 c
a

n
 b

e
 a

lte
re

d
 s

u
b

se
q

u
e

n
t 

to
 o

ri
g

in
a

l d
is

tr
ib

u
tio

n
. 

D
a

ta
 

ca
n

 a
ls

o
 q

u
ic

kl
y 

b
e

co
m

e
 o

u
t 

o
f 

d
a

te
. 
It
 is

 r
e

co
m

m
e

n
d

e
d

 t
h

a
t 
ca

re
fu

l a
tt
e

n
tio

n
 b

e
 p

a
id

 t
o

 t
h

e
 c

o
n

te
n

ts
 o

f 
a

n
y 

d
a

ta
, 
a

n
d

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 o

ri
g

in
a

to
r 

o
f 
th

e
 d

a
ta

 o
r 

in
fo

rm
a

tio
n

 b
e

 c
o

n
ta

ct
e

d
 w

ith
 a

n
y 

q
u

e
st

io
n

s 
re

g
a

rd
in

g
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 u

se
. 
P

le
a

se
 d

ir
e

ct
 a

n
y 

q
u

e
st

io
n

s 
o

r 
is

su
e

s 
vi

a
 e

m
a

il 
to

 g
is

@
w

ill
co

u
n

ty
ill

in
o

is
.c

o
m

.

M
ile

s
0

.1

L
e

g
e

n
d

1
:2

,2
5

7
W

G
S

_
1

9
8

4
_

W
e

b
_

M
e

rc
a

to
r_

A
u

xi
lia

ry
_

S
p

h
e

re
0

0
.0

4

R
o

a
d

w
a

ys

F
e

d
e

ra
l

S
ta

te

C
o

u
n

ty

L
o

ca
l a

n
d

 P
ri

va
te



 





 

Northwest side of the front parking lot 

 

Southwest side of the front parking lot 



 

Southeast side of the front parking lot 

 

Northeast side of the front parking lot 



 

Applicant’s tenant space (in red) 

 

Rear parking lot 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 4/27/23 | Page 3 

 

 

Motion by: James  Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (6-0) 

Chair Rigoni said that this case would be brought to the Village Board on May 1st.  

D. Workshop: 20500 S. La Grange Road – Sage Salon 

Drew Duffin presented the staff report. 

The applicant, Talitha Henison, approached the stand. She said that the salon would have 

no more than three stylists. She planned to use the office to manage the administrative 

needs of the business. Her salon offered hair cutting services, nothing out of the ordinary.  

Commission Knieriem stated that he had no comments, and that the application seemed 

straight forward to him. 

Commissioner Markunas said that he had spoken with another business owner who 

operated in the same building. They had observed that the parking lot could get busy 

there on Fridays and on weekends. He believed that it was a result of spillover parking 

from the restaurant to the south. He asked if the applicant owned any other businesses.  

The applicant said that she did, a salon in Mokena and another in Tinley Park. They 

operated under the same name.  

Commissioner Markunas asked when the salon would open.  

The applicant said she would open as soon as she was allowed. 

Commissioner James asked who the previous occupant of the tenant space was. 

Drew Duffin said he was not sure.  

The applicant stated she was also unsure.  

Chair Rigoni said she had no questions.  

Commissioner James stated that it was common for dental offices to skew the parking 

requirements for a site. He noted that the subject property never seemed to have a lot of 

cars. He suggested that it might be worth looking at the code requirement and possibly 

reducing it in the future. 

E. Workshop: 165 Industry Avenue, Unit 3 – CNC Lawncare 

Drew Duffin presented the staff report. 

mschwarz
Highlight



Received 3.1.23





 
 

Fi
nd

in
gs

 o
f 

Fa
ct

 C
om

m
is

si
on

er
 E

va
lu

at
io

n 
Fo

rm
 –

 S
pe

ci
al

 U
se

 P
er

m
it

 
 

Ar
tic

le
 3

, S
ec

tio
n 

E,
 P

ar
t 6

 o
f t

he
 V

ill
ag

e 
of

 Fr
an

kf
or

t Z
on

in
g 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 lis

ts
 “f

in
di

ng
s”

 o
r “

st
an

da
rd

s”
 th

at
 th

e 
Pl

an
 C

om
m

iss
io

n 
m

us
t u

se
 to

 e
va

lu
at

e 
ev

er
y 

sp
ec

ia
l u

se
 p

er
m

it 
re

qu
es

t. 
N

o 
sp

ec
ia

l u
se

 sh
al

l b
e 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
by

 th
e 

Pl
an

 C
om

m
iss

io
n 

un
le

ss
 a

ll 
th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

fin
di

ng
s a

re
 m

ad
e.

 
 

 
ST

AN
DA

RD
 

N
O

TE
S 

M
EE

TS
 

a.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

es
ta

bl
ish

m
en

t, 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 o

r 
op

er
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
sp

ec
ia

l u
se

 w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

de
tr

im
en

ta
l t

o,
 o

r e
nd

an
ge

r, 
th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 h
ea

lth
, 

sa
fe

ty
, m

or
al

s,
 c

om
fo

rt
 o

r g
en

er
al

 w
el

fa
re

. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

b.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

sp
ec

ia
l u

se
 w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
in

ju
rio

us
 to

 th
e 

us
e 

an
d 

en
jo

ym
en

t o
f o

th
er

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
in

 th
e 

im
m

ed
ia

te
 v

ic
in

ity
 fo

r t
he

 p
ur

po
se

s a
lre

ad
y 

pe
rm

itt
ed

, n
or

 su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lly

 d
im

in
ish

 a
nd

 im
pa

ir 
pr

op
er

ty
 v

al
ue

s w
ith

in
 th

e 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

c.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

es
ta

bl
ish

m
en

t o
f t

he
 sp

ec
ia

l u
se

 w
ill

 n
ot

 
im

pe
de

 th
e 

no
rm

al
 a

nd
 o

rd
er

ly
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t a

nd
 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t o

f t
he

 su
rr

ou
nd

in
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 fo
r 

us
es

 p
er

m
itt

ed
 in

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t. 

 
  YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 
d.

 
Th

at
 th

e 
ex

te
rio

r a
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 a

pp
ea

l a
nd

 
fu

nc
tio

na
l p

la
n 

of
 a

ny
 p

ro
po

se
d 

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
w

ill
 n

ot
 

be
 so

 a
t v

ar
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 e
ith

er
 th

e 
ex

te
rio

r 
ar

ch
ite

ct
ur

al
 a

pp
ea

l a
nd

 fu
nc

tio
na

l p
la

n 
of

 th
e 

st
ru

ct
ur

es
 a

lre
ad

y 
co

ns
tr

uc
te

d,
 o

r i
n 

th
e 

co
ur

se
 o

f 
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

im
m

ed
ia

te
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

or
 

th
e 

ch
ar

ac
te

r o
f t

he
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

 d
ist

ric
t, 

as
 to

 
ca

us
e 

a 
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

l d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
in

 th
e 

pr
op

er
ty

 
va

lu
es

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
. 

 
    YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 



e.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

ad
eq

ua
te

 u
til

iti
es

, a
cc

es
s r

oa
ds

, d
ra

in
ag

e 
an

d/
or

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s h

av
e 

be
en

 o
r a

re
 b

ei
ng

 
pr

ov
id

ed
. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 
f. 

Th
at

 a
de

qu
at

e 
m

ea
su

re
s h

av
e 

be
en

 o
r w

ill
 b

e 
ta

ke
n 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 in

gr
es

s a
nd

 e
gr

es
s s

o 
de

sig
ne

d 
as

 to
 m

in
im

ize
 tr

af
fic

 c
on

ge
st

io
n 

in
 th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 
st

re
et

s. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

g.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

sp
ec

ia
l u

se
 sh

al
l, 

in
 a

ll 
ot

he
r r

es
pe

ct
s, 

co
nf

or
m

 to
 th

e 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 
di

st
ric

t i
n 

w
hi

ch
 it

 is
 lo

ca
te

d,
 e

xc
ep

t a
s s

uc
h 

re
gu

la
tio

ns
 m

ay
, i

n 
ea

ch
 in

st
an

ce
, b

e 
m

od
ifi

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Vi

lla
ge

 B
oa

rd
, p

ur
su

an
t t

o 
th

e 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 P
la

n 
Co

m
m

iss
io

n.
 

 
  YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

 



  1 

                                          

Plan Commission / ZBA         May 25, 2023 

 
Project: Nerradical Rides LLC    
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: Special Use for motorcycle sales and service (aftermarket parts and accessories installation)  
Location: 9503 Gulfstream Road Unit A 
Subdivision:  Airport Industrial Park Subdivision (Lot 13)  
Applicant:  Darren J. Harris 
Prop. Owner: Walter Gerhardt Jr., Mary L. Gerhardt, Walter Gerhardt Sr., and Diane D. Gerhardt 
Representative: Same as applicant 
Report by: Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 1.02 acres                      Figure 1. Location Map 
PIN: 19-09-34-302-004-0000 
Existing Zoning:  I-1 Limited Industrial District  
Proposed Zoning: I-1 Limited Industrial District with a Special Use for 

motorcycle sales and service 
Buildings: 1 building (10,800 square feet) 
Total Sq. Ft.: 4,050 square feet (tenant space) 

  
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use FLU Map Zoning 

Subject Property Industrial Business Park I-1 

North Industrial Business Park I-1 

South  Industrial Business Park I-1 

East Industrial Business Park I-1 

West  Industrial Business Park I-1 

 
 
 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for motorcycle sales and service (aftermarket parts and 
accessories installation) at 9503 Gulfstream Road, Unit A.  The applicant is the sole employee of the business at 
this time. 
 

Attachments 
• Location Map prepared by staff  
• Plat of Survey  
• Site photos taken on 05.16.23 
• Special Use Findings of Fact prepared by applicant 
• Special Use Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 

 
Analysis 
In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 



  2 

Use, Occupancy, and Space 

• The applicant’s proposed business involves the installation of aftermarket parts and accessories on 
motorcycles, including some customization work as well.  At this time, the applicant is the sole employee of 
the business that would be working within the tenant space.  The business operates by appointment only, 
but the owner intends to typically be working at this location between 9:00 a.m. and 6:30 p.m. Monday 
through Saturday.  At this time, the owner does not intend to be open on Sunday.   
 

Parking  
 

• Per the Zoning Ordinance, the Vehicle Repair and Maintenance parking category requires 1 parking space 
per employee in the largest shift, and 3 spaces per service bay. The tenant space is 4,050 square feet in an 
open work area and effectively includes just one service bay. Therefore, the proposed use would require 4 
parking spaces.  
 

• The existing parking lot has a total of 9 striped parking spaces. There is additional gravel parking behind 
and along the sides of the building which would accommodate approximately 25 vehicles.  The following 
table breaks down the parking requirements for the other existing units within the building.  
 

Tenant 
(Parking Category and area of 

tenant space) 

Spaces Per 
Employee 

Required by Zoning 
Ordinance 

(Actual employees) 

Spaces Per Square 
Footage/Bay 

Required by Zoning 
Ordinance 

Total Required Parking 
by Zoning Ordinance per 

Tenant 

Nerradical Ridez  
(Vehicle Repair and 
Maintenance parking category) 
4,050 SF 

1 per employee for 
the largest shift 

(1 current 
employee) 

3 spaces per service 
bay 

(1 bay – open work 
area) 

4 

Gerhardt Enterprises, Inc. 
(Office use); An old window 
sign reflects the former office 
use for Presage Equity Salon 
Concepts) 
(Office parking category)  
4,050 SF 

NA 
(2 current 

employees) 

1 per 200 SF 21 

Kelly Car Buyer (Office for an 
automobile dealer)    
2,700 SF Office 
 
 
 
 

NA 
(1 current 
employee)  

1 per 200 SF 14 

Total Zoning Ordinance 
Required Parking 

  39 spaces  
(9 existing striped 

spaces plus 
approximately 25 gravel 
spaces behind and along 
the sides of the building 

for 34 total spaces 



  3 

• Although the existing parking lot does not meet the aggregate requirements of the Zoning Ordinance 
when considering each individual use of the building separately, staff has not observed any shortage of 
parking during the week. In addition, the Village’s Code Enforcement Officer has not received any 
complaints related to insufficient parking.  Each of the three businesses currently reflect very low 
employee counts due to the nature of each business. 

 

Adjustments to Required Parking  
 

For reference during the workshop, Article 7, Part 5 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance describes the 
circumstances in which the Plan Commission may adjust the minimum number of required parking spaces in the 
business and industrial districts on a case-by-case basis.  

 
a.     Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow adjustments to the minimum number of parking spaces 

required to avoid construction of unnecessary and excessive off-street parking facilities. Reducing the 
requirements for off-street parking facilities is intended to provide for more cost-efficient site 
development, to minimize impervious surface, to minimize storm water runoff, to avoid construction of 
unnecessarily large storm water management facilities, and to provide more landscape areas and open 
space on business and industrial sites. To achieve these purposes, the Plan Commission may reduce the 
minimum number of required off-street parking spaces in specific cases as described in this Part 5.  

 
b.     Adjustments. In all business and industrial districts, the minimum number of required parking spaces may 

be adjusted by the Plan Commission on a case-by-case basis. The petitioner for such an adjustment shall 
show to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that adequate parking will be provided for customers, 
clients, visitors, and employees. The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust 
parking requirements:  

 
1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements. The petitioner 

shall submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that the 
operation will require less parking than the Ordinance requires.  

 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written documentation to 

the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared or off-site parking spaces are available to 
satisfy the parking demand.  

 
a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either parking lots are large 

enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or that parking spaces will be shared at 
specific times of the day (shared parking, where one activity uses the spaces during daytime 
hours and another activity uses the spaces during evening hours.)  
 

b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the required parking and shall 
be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet from the principal use that it is intended to 
serve. 

 
When a reduction of parking spaces attributable to shared parking or off-site parking is requested, the petitioner 
shall submit written verification that such parking is available and shall include copies of any contracts, joint lease 
agreements, purchase agreements, and other such documentation to show that shared parking can be 
accomplished. Off-site shared parking spaces shall be clearly posted for the joint use of employees, and/or tenants, 
or customers of each respective use sharing those spaces.  
 

3. Use of Alternative Transportation. Upon demonstration to the Plan Commission that effective 
alternative transportation to the automobile will occur, the Plan Commission may reduce parking 
requirements. Alternative transportation may include, but is not limited to, bus transit, van pool 
operations, car pool/ride sharing, and bicycles. Proposals for adjustments of parking under this 
section shall show how the alternative transportation modes will be implemented, the permanency 



  4 

of such modes, extent of the program, the number of vehicles the mode will replace, and other 
pertinent information.  

 
c.     Banked Parking Spaces. As a condition of a reduction in parking requirements, the Plan Commission may 

require banked parking spaces. In such cases, the site plan for the business or industrial use shall provide 
sufficient open space on the subject site to accommodate the additional parking space otherwise required 
by this Ordinance. Such open space shall be in addition to required yards, setbacks, driveways, private 
streets, loading and service areas. Sufficient open space shall be provided which, if converted to parking 
spaces, would:  

 
1. Provide off-street parking to meet the full requirements of this Ordinance at the time of application, 

and  
2. Ensure that the site shall not exceed the maximum impervious lot coverage as set forth in Article 6. 

 
Based on observation, staff believes that the existing parking lot with 9 available spaces is large enough to 
accommodate the current mix of tenants (joint parking).  From a practical standpoint, the Plan Commission/Zoning 
Board of Appeals is not being asked to approve a parking adjustment for the proposed business.  Instead, the Plan 
Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals may wish to acknowledge the existing parking condition for the record.  
 

Standards for Special Use 
 
No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  

 
c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  

 
e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, 
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Findings for Consideration 
 
The Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals finds: 
 

1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   



  5 

 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property 
values within the neighborhood.  

 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood.  

 
5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Affirmative Motion  
 
For the Commission’s consideration, staff provides the following potential affirmative motion: 
 
Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use Permit for motorcycle sales and service 
(aftermarket parts and accessories installation) in the I-1 Limited Industrial District, for the property located at 
9503 Gulfstream Road, Unit A, Frankfort, Illinois (PIN: 19-09-34-302-004-0000), in accordance with the submitted 
plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 
 
 
 
 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

9503 Gulfstream Road

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

5/16/2023 Date:

0.04

Address Points

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels

Townships





Site Photos – 9503 Gulfstream Road Unit A 

 

 

Figure 1: 9503 Gulfstream Road, view looking southeast from parking lot. 

 

 

  Figure 2:  9503 Gulfstream Road, view looking east from parking lot.   
    

   



 

 

  Figure 3: 9503 Gulfstream Road, west side, view looking south from parking lot. 

 

   Figure 4:  9503 Gulfstream Road, east side, view looking south from parking lot. 
 

 

 

 

 



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Special Use Permit Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use permit request. The Plan Commission must 
make the following seven findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist the Plan Commission in 
their review of the special use permit request(s), please provide responses to the following “Findings of 
Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 

endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
  
 
 
 
 
4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 



5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

 
 
 
 
 
6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 

designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 

 

 

 

7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
 



 
 

Fi
nd

in
gs

 o
f 

Fa
ct

 C
om

m
is

si
on

er
 E

va
lu

at
io

n 
Fo

rm
 –

 S
pe

ci
al

 U
se

 P
er

m
it

 
 

Ar
tic

le
 3

, S
ec

tio
n 

E,
 P

ar
t 6

 o
f t

he
 V

ill
ag

e 
of

 Fr
an

kf
or

t Z
on

in
g 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 lis

ts
 “f

in
di

ng
s”

 o
r “

st
an

da
rd

s”
 th

at
 th

e 
Pl

an
 C

om
m

iss
io

n 
m

us
t u

se
 to

 e
va

lu
at

e 
ev

er
y 

sp
ec

ia
l u

se
 p

er
m

it 
re

qu
es

t. 
N

o 
sp

ec
ia

l u
se

 sh
al

l b
e 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
by

 th
e 

Pl
an

 C
om

m
iss

io
n 

un
le

ss
 a

ll 
th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

fin
di

ng
s a

re
 m

ad
e.

 
 

 
ST

AN
DA

RD
 

N
O

TE
S 

M
EE

TS
 

a.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

es
ta

bl
ish

m
en

t, 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 o

r 
op

er
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
sp

ec
ia

l u
se

 w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

de
tr

im
en

ta
l t

o,
 o

r e
nd

an
ge

r, 
th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 h
ea

lth
, 

sa
fe

ty
, m

or
al

s,
 c

om
fo

rt
 o

r g
en

er
al

 w
el

fa
re

. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

b.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

sp
ec

ia
l u

se
 w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
in

ju
rio

us
 to

 th
e 

us
e 

an
d 

en
jo

ym
en

t o
f o

th
er

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
in

 th
e 

im
m

ed
ia

te
 v

ic
in

ity
 fo

r t
he

 p
ur

po
se

s a
lre

ad
y 

pe
rm

itt
ed

, n
or

 su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lly

 d
im

in
ish

 a
nd

 im
pa

ir 
pr

op
er

ty
 v

al
ue

s w
ith

in
 th

e 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

c.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

es
ta

bl
ish

m
en

t o
f t

he
 sp

ec
ia

l u
se

 w
ill

 n
ot

 
im

pe
de

 th
e 

no
rm

al
 a

nd
 o

rd
er

ly
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t a

nd
 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t o

f t
he

 su
rr

ou
nd

in
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 fo
r 

us
es

 p
er

m
itt

ed
 in

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t. 

 
  YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 
d.

 
Th

at
 th

e 
ex

te
rio

r a
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 a

pp
ea

l a
nd

 
fu

nc
tio

na
l p

la
n 

of
 a

ny
 p

ro
po

se
d 

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
w

ill
 n

ot
 

be
 so

 a
t v

ar
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 e
ith

er
 th

e 
ex

te
rio

r 
ar

ch
ite

ct
ur

al
 a

pp
ea

l a
nd

 fu
nc

tio
na

l p
la

n 
of

 th
e 

st
ru

ct
ur

es
 a

lre
ad

y 
co

ns
tr

uc
te

d,
 o

r i
n 

th
e 

co
ur

se
 o

f 
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

im
m

ed
ia

te
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

or
 

th
e 

ch
ar

ac
te

r o
f t

he
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

 d
ist

ric
t, 

as
 to

 
ca

us
e 

a 
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

l d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
in

 th
e 

pr
op

er
ty

 
va

lu
es

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
. 

 
    YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 



e.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

ad
eq

ua
te

 u
til

iti
es

, a
cc

es
s r

oa
ds

, d
ra

in
ag

e 
an

d/
or

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s h

av
e 

be
en

 o
r a

re
 b

ei
ng

 
pr

ov
id

ed
. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 
f. 

Th
at

 a
de

qu
at

e 
m

ea
su

re
s h

av
e 

be
en

 o
r w

ill
 b

e 
ta

ke
n 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 in

gr
es

s a
nd

 e
gr

es
s s

o 
de

sig
ne

d 
as

 to
 m

in
im

ize
 tr

af
fic

 c
on

ge
st

io
n 

in
 th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 
st

re
et

s. 

 
 YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

g.
 

Th
at

 th
e 

sp
ec

ia
l u

se
 sh

al
l, 

in
 a

ll 
ot

he
r r

es
pe

ct
s, 

co
nf

or
m

 to
 th

e 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 
di

st
ric

t i
n 

w
hi

ch
 it

 is
 lo

ca
te

d,
 e

xc
ep

t a
s s

uc
h 

re
gu

la
tio

ns
 m

ay
, i

n 
ea

ch
 in

st
an

ce
, b

e 
m

od
ifi

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Vi

lla
ge

 B
oa

rd
, p

ur
su

an
t t

o 
th

e 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 P
la

n 
Co

m
m

iss
io

n.
 

 
  YE

S 
   

   
   

   
 N

O
 

 

 



1 
 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                                                                                   S                                        May 25, 2023 

 
Project: Abbey Woods North    
Meeting Type:  Workshop   
Requests: Rezoning (upon annexation), Preliminary Plat of Subdivision 
Location:   South side of St. Francis Road, just east of La Grange Road  
Applicant:  O’Malley Builders Inc.  
Prop. Owner:  Steven Beemsterboer  
Representative: Shawn O’Malley 
Staff Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba 
 

Site Details 
 

Gross Area: 797,583 sq. ft. (18.31 acres)                                                  Figure 1. Location Map     
Net Area 574,120 sq. ft. (13.18 acres)  
PIN(s): 19-09-15-300-019-0000 
Existing Zoning:  A-1 (County)   
Proposed Zoning: R-2 (Single-Family Residential) 
Future Land Use:  Single Family Detached Residential  
Lots: 26 
 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, O’Malley Builders, Inc., is proposing a 26-lot single-family detached residential subdivision for 
“Abbey Woods North”.  The subject property is located in unincorporated Will County and zoned A-1, Agricultural.  
The Village’s 2019 Comprehensive Plan recommends that the property be developed for Single-Family detached 
homes.  The applicant is proposing to rezone the property to R-2, Single-Family Residential, upon annexation into 
the Village.  The current single parcel would be subdivided into buildable lots and common area lots through a Plat 
of Subdivision.  To serve the proposed 26 lots, Waterview Trail would be extended south of St. Francis Road and 
would be dedicated public right-of-way.  This road extension would terminate in a cul-de-sac.  The proposed 
subdivision would follow a “traditional” development process and would not be a PUD (the reasons for which 
explained later in this report).  As proposed, the development would require several variation requests, which 
could be permitted as part of a future annexation agreement.   
 
Attachments 

1. Aerial Photographs, Village of Frankfort GIS (scales of 1:6,000 and 1:3,000) 
2. FEMA floodplain and floodway maps 
3. National Wetland Inventory Map 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property Undeveloped Single-Family A-1 
(County) 

North Single-Family Single-Family R-2 

South       Floodway Conservation R-1 

East Religious/ 
Institutional 

Institutional/ 
Utility  

E-R 

West Single Family Single-Family A-1 
(County) 



2 
 

4. PUD Findings of Fact, provided by applicant, received XXX 
5. 2019 Bike Path Diagram 
6. Table of Lot Size, Width and Depth, prepared by staff 
7. 2008 Design Standards excerpt, Street Geometric Criteria  
8. Subdivision Ordinance (Ord-921) excerpt, Section 9.2-10 Cul-de-sacs 
9. Tree Survey List, received 9.29.22 
10. Tree Survey, received 4.27.23 
11. Plat of Survey, received 4.27.23 
12. Plat of Annexation, received 4.27.23 
13. Preliminary Plat, received 4.27.23 
14. Preliminary Plat, retaining walls highlighted by staff 
15. Landscape Plan, received 4.27.23 
16. Lighting Plan, received 4.27.23 
17. Truck Turning Plan, received 4.27.23 

    
Analysis 
 

2019 Comprehensive Plan 
 
The Comprehensive Plan designates the subject property as “Single-Family Detached Residential”.  The proposed 
use of the property for 26 single-family homes is consistent with the plan.  

Zoning 
 
The subject property is currently zoned A-1, Agricultural, as per the zoning designation of Will County.  The 
applicant is proposing rezoning the property to R-2 (Single-Family Residential), upon annexation into the Village.  
The R-2 zone district permits single-family homes by-right.   

Dimensional Table 

  R-2 Standard Notes 

Minimum Lot Size 15,000 SF 
Largest: 19,445 SF, Smallest: 
15,000 SF, Avg: 15,827 SF 

Minimum Lot Width* 100’ typical lot, 120’ corner lot 
Widest: 120’, Narrowest: 100’, 
Avg: 103.9’ 

Minimum Lot Depth 
150’ typical lot, 130’ if abuts 

permanent open space 
Deepest: 171.6’, Shallowest: 
122.5’, Average: 150’ 

Maximum Density 2.25 d.u./net ac. Proposed: 1.97 d.u./net ac. 
Front Yard Setback 30’ min TBD (custom homes) 
Corner Side Yard Setback  30’ min TBD (custom homes) 

Side Yard Setback 
10’ min ea. side, total 25’ both 

sides TBD (custom homes) 

Rear Yard Setback 30’ min TBD (custom homes) 
Lot Coverage 20% max TBD (custom homes) 
Impervious Lot Coverage 40% max TBD (custom homes) 

 
*Min lot depth: The minimum lot depth may be decreased by 20’ if the rear lot line abuts permanent open space. 
In this case, those lots that abut the detention ponds may be as little as 130’ deep.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

Site Plan  
 
General Comments:  
 

1. The site slopes down noticeably from north to south, with the floodway of Hickory Creek at the extreme 
south end of the property.  A significant portion of the southern end of the site is located in the floodway 
and cannot be developed.  
 

2. The R-2 zone district allows a maximum residential density of up to 2.25 dwelling units/acre.  The 
applicant is proposing a density of 1.97 dwelling units/acre, complying with this requirement.   

 
3. All 26 lots meet the minimum lot size requirement of 15,000 square feet for the R-2 zone district.  

 
4. Most of the 26 lots meet the minimum lot width requirement of 100’ for a typical lot and 120’ for a corner 

lot.  Lots 9, 10 and 26 are the only corner lots and all of them do not meet the required 120’ lot width.  
This would require a variation and is further discussed at the end of this report.  
 

5. Most of the 26 lots meet the minimum lot depth requirement of 150’ for a typical lot and 130’ when the 
rear lot line of a lot abuts permanent open space (such as either detention pond).  Lots 11, 15, 16 and 17 
do not meet the minimum lot depth requirement. This would require a variation and is further discussed 
at the end of this report. 
 

6. The Preliminary Plat illustrates the building setback lines on the lots as well as the proposed building 
footprint for each house (rectangle).  The building footprint should be located behind the building setback 
line.  However, the pie-shaped lots adjacent to the cul-de-sacs are much narrower at the front.  Since the 
R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot width of 100’ for non-corner lots, the building footprint 
(rectangle) was shifted back behind where the 100’ width is achieved on these lots.  For example, Lots 12, 
13, 14, 24 and 25 should have a building setback line that is greater than 30’.  The building setback line on 
these lots is incorrectly noted on Lots 13, 24 and 25 and should be corrected with any future plan 
submittal.   

 
7. The applicant is proposing retaining walls on both the east and west sides of the subdivision development.  

Although the retaining walls are noted on the Plat, staff highlighted them in red on a separate exhibit so 
they can be seen more clearly.  There are 3 separate sections of retaining walls, with some sections having 
double-tiered walls, stepped back like a rice paddy.  The longest wall section is approximately 333’.  The 
retaining walls appear to have a maximum height of approximately 5’.  The 2008 Design Standards (page 
70) notes that the use of retaining walls is “strongly discouraged” and that any retaining walls over 50’ 
long or 2.5’ tall require review and approval by the Plan Commission.  The Design Standards do not note 
this as a variation, but rather an informal approval from the Plan Commission.  If the Plan Commission 
wants to accept the use of the retaining walls as proposed, this acceptance would be noted in the 
meeting minutes as part of the written record.  

 
8. The applicant is proposing five (5) decorative light poles along the extension of Waterview Trail, south of 

St. Francis Road.  In discussions with Public Works, the streetlights may be the acorn-style fixtures to 
match those north of St. Francis Road, but the lighting element must be LED.  Staff also recommends 
installing reflectors at the top of the acorn fixture to help minimize light pollution, although this is not a 
requirement in the Zoning Ordinance.  Streetlights without cut-off fixtures, as in this case, cannot exceed 
12’ tall within the R-2 zone district. The proposed light poles would be 12’ measured to the top of the light 
fixture, meeting this requirement.  
 

9. Approximately 50’ of the north end of the property must be dedicated to the St. Francis Road right-of-
way.  This dedication is illustrated on the Preliminary Plat.  The exact amount of dedication is 



4 
 

undetermined at this time and per the Preliminary Plat, it ranges from 50’ to 55’ of dedication.  Further 
engineering review is required to define the exact dedication.  
 

10. The applicant is requesting several variations for this project, including but not limited to providing less 
than the minimum required lot widths and depth.  In response, staff recommended to the applicant to 
investigate whether either of the adjacent property owners would consider conveying (selling) a portion 
of their land to provide greater flexibility of site design, such as meeting the minimum lot depth 
requirement.  The applicant has informed staff that neither neighboring property is interested.    
 

Parking & Loading 
 

1. Each dwelling unit is required to provide a two-car garage. It’s anticipated that each unit will have a 2-car 
garage, meeting this requirement.  
 

2. The extension of Waterview Trail would be dedicated as a public road, complying with the 2008 Design 
Standards, including the required 66’ right-of-way width.  On-street parking would be permitted on this 
new public road.  
 

Vehicular & Pedestrian Circulation 
 

1. The Waterview Trail extension would be approximately 1,200’ long, measured from the proposed public 
sidewalk along St. Francis Road to the end of the cul-de-sac.  The 2008 Design Standards require that any 
dead-end street serving more than 25 homes shall not exceed 750’.  The Subdivision Ordinance (Ord-921) 
requires that any dead-end street serving more than 25 homes shall not exceed 500’.  The proposed road 
extension would therefore require variations from both these requirements.  All requested variations are 
listed at the end of this report.   
 

2. The Subdivision Ordinance notes that proposed streets shall extend to the boundary lines of the tract to 
be subdivided (page 46).  For this reason, and due to the long length of the proposed road extension 
terminating in a cul-de-sac, staff required a stub street connection to the undeveloped 18-acre property 
to the west, commonly known as the Fleck Property.  This stub street connection meets the minimum 
right-of-way width of 66’, complete with curbing and 5’ sidewalks on either side.  The stub street, with 
sidewalks, would be required to be installed at the same time as the rest of the right-of-way 
improvements for the Waterview Trail extension.   
 

3. The Subdivision Ordinance notes that the length of a residential block shall not exceed 2,000’ (page 52).  
At approximately 1,200’, the proposed Waterview Trail extension complies with this requirement.  
 

4. A 6’ wide sidewalk is required along the south side St. Francis Road and 5’ wide sidewalks along each side 
of the Waterview Trail extension.  Both of the required sidewalks are illustrated on the Preliminary Plat.  
 

5. In 2019, the Village drafted preliminary planning documents for a future bike path along the north side of 
Hickory Creek from La Grange Road near Dollar Tree to an older pedestrian bridge near Lighthouse Pointe 
Park (see attached exhibit).  The bike path crosses through the subject property at the south end, close to 
Hickory Creek, and would be the first segment of the path to be completed.  At staff’s request, the 
applicant has provided a 10’ wide bike path connection, closely matching the preliminary plans for the 
route of the bike path and would allow a future connection to properties on either side.  The bike path 
would be located in common area within part of Outlot A, to be owned and maintained by the HOA.  The 
bike path would also connect to the cul-de-sac right-of-way, making it accessible to residents of the 



5 
 

subdivision.  The general public could also access the bike path via St. Francis to the Waterview Trail 
extension.  The proposed retaining walls would not interfere with the bike path.  

 
Stormwater & Drainage 
 
There is significant floodway over the south fifth of the subject property adjacent to Hickory Creek (see attached 
FEMA exhibits).  The proposed development maximizes the number of lots on the site and the applicant has been 
working closely with Robinson Engineering for preliminary engineering approval.  At this time, some of Robinson’s 
preliminary engineering comments have been addressed, although some comments still remain.  On-site detention 
has been provided in two detention ponds: one adjacent to Hickory Creek and one along the western side of the 
development.  The remaining preliminary engineering comments have been summarized as follows.  Some of 
these comments may significantly affect the layout of the Preliminary Plat.  
 

1. Retaining walls are proposed in three locations, each of which exceeds the threshold for height and/or 
length for staff review only. Additional grading information will be needed to confirm the height and 
lengths, as well as usable yards/easement areas for the adjacent lots. 

2. Berms proposed along St. Francis Road may require more space than currently shown on the engineering 
plans. Height, slopes, and top width do not yet meet standards.  This may affect usable yards/easement 
areas on adjacent lots.  

3. Additional grading and stormwater conveyance information is needed to confirm usable rear 
yards/easements along the west and east property lines.  

4. Minor revisions are needed to the alignment of the multi-use path along the pond, especially along the 
western portion in order to hold to design parameters discussed between Village Staff and the property 
owner to the west (in order to obtain an easement). 

 
Landscaping  

Most of the Village’s landscaping requirements are listed in the Landscape Ordinance, although some 
requirements are listed in the Zoning Ordinance.  For the proposed residential subdivision, four basic types of 
landscaping are required:  

1. Landscaping adjacent to an Arterial Road (St. Francis): A 25’ wide, 3’ tall, landscaped berm is required 
along the length of St. Francis Road.  This berm must contain “125 plant units” per 100’ of lineal frontage 
and at least 40% of the plant units must be evergreen.  As proposed, the 3’ tall landscape berm is not 
continuous along the entire length of St. Francis Road and is completely missing between the northern 
detention pond and St. Francis Road.  Also, many of the proposed trees on the berm are of a species that 
are either not permitted or not on the list of acceptable trees.  The landscape berm appears to have a lot 
of plantings, but staff did not perform a count/calculation of the plantings because the 
number/species/size needs to be defined and may change.  If the landscape berm is not continuous along 
the entire length of St. Francis Road, a variation will be required.  This 25’ landscape berm would be 
located in a 25’ wide “no fence, no access” easement, to ensure no fences or vehicular (driveway) 
connections to St. Francis Road.  

2. Street Trees (Parkway Plantings) along the Waterview Trail extension:  One (1) overstory tree is required 
for every 35’ lineal feet of road frontage.  The Landscape Plan notes that three (3) different tree species 
will be provided for the street trees and the total number of street trees provided complies with this code 
requirement.  

3. Landscaping around the perimeter of stormwater detention facilities:  Twenty (20) plant units are 
required for every 100’ lineal feet of perimeter around each pond, measured at the high water level 
(HWL).  Although some plantings around the two detention ponds are illustrated on the Landscape Plan, 



6 
 

staff has requested that the applicant illustrate the high water level around each pond, including the lineal 
perimeter measurement in order to calculate the required plant units.  

4. Preservation Tree mitigation: The Tree Survey lists all of the existing trees on the property, with 158 
existing trees in total.  As listed on the Tree Survey itself, 72 of the 158 trees would be removed.  Of the 
72 trees to be removed, 47 of these are classified as “preservation trees” in the Landscape Ordinance and 
are “fair” or “good” condition.  Preservation trees, due to their desirability for ecological and aesthetic 
reasons, must be mitigated on-site site with other new trees at least 2.5” in caliper.  Preservation trees 
must be mitigated at a 1:1 ratio of caliper inch removed.  The 47 preservation trees to be removed, in fair 
or good condition, add up to a total of 588”.  The minimum size of a mitigation tree must be at least 2.5” 
caliper.  As such, at least 235 mitigation trees must be planted on-site, in addition to the trees and shrubs 
required for the St. Francis berm, detention ponds and street trees.  It’s unclear whether there is physically 
enough space in the development to plant all of the mitigation trees on-site.  Mitigation trees can’t be 
planted on private lots, below the high-water line of the detention ponds or in the floodway or floodplain.  
As allowed per the Landscape Ordinance, staff is not requiring the mitigation of removed preservation 
trees that are in “poor” or “dead” condition.  If space is not available to plant all of the mitigation trees 
on-site, the developer is required to pay into a Village cash-in-lieu fund.  

Traditional Development vs. PUD:  

Considering the development as proposed by the applicant, staff has recommended that the subdivision be 
developed in a “traditional” sense and not as a PUD.   

The purpose of PUD’s is described in the Zoning Ordinance on page 22: This section is intended to provide the 
means and guidelines through which tracts of land may be developed through a comprehensive approach, rather 
than the traditional lot-by-lot treatment afforded by other districts in this ordinance. It is intended to provide a 
maximum of design freedom by permitting the developer an opportunity to more fully utilize the physical 
characteristics of the site through the reduction of lot sizes, yards, height and bulk restrictions and mixing of uses. 
Through the requirement of a development plan, it is the intent that property under this section will be developed 
through a unified design, providing contiguity between the various elements, and ultimately leading to a better 
environment. Increased densities may be permitted under this section if such increases can be substantiated on the 
basis that the superior site design makes greater densities possible, with no reduction of amenities; and keeping 
with the Village desire to provide a wide range of open space opportunities to serve local park and recreation 
facilities for active and passive use. This section is not intended to be a device for making increased densities 
more acceptable, or as a means of circumventing the Village’s bulk regulations or standards. This section should 
only be employed in instances where a benefit for the community can truly be derived from its use.  

Staff offers the following:  

1. Per the definition above, “This section should only be employed in instances where a benefits for the 
community can truly be derived from its use”.  It’s not clear what benefits are offered or could be offered 
as proposed.  The development does not provide any usable, common open space, community structures 
such as a gazebo or dog park or preserve any mature trees not located in the floodplain.  The only benefit 
offered is a bike path, which is required pursuant to Section 8.4-1 of the Land Subdivision Regulations 
which pertains to specific requirements for recreational sites that are included in the Comprehensive 
Plan.  The proposed shared use path is reflected as a “Priority Gap” on Figure 3.2 Frankfort Trail Inventory 
Map on Page 25 in the Comprehensive Plan.  

2. The illustration on page 30 of the Zoning Ordinance is intended to provide an example of a typical 
residential PUD.  It illustrates smaller (typically undersized) lots, provides usable common open space, 
preserves existing wooded areas and provides a larger buffer from a river.  The proposed Preliminary Plat 
for Abbey Woods North maximizes lot sizes, provides no usable open space, removes a large number of 



7 
 

existing trees on the site (most of which are located in the floodplain and floodway of Hickory Creek) and 
the development extends as close as possible to Hickory Creek itself.  In short, the proposed plan does not 
look like the picture.  

3. The applicant is required to provide “tangible benefits” for PUD developments.  These tangible benefits 
are intended to offset the “exceptions” (variations) requested.  These tangible benefits should go above 
and beyond what is already required by code.  Again, the only possible tangible benefit as proposed is a 
10’ wide bike path, which would have been required for this property anyway.  Tangible benefits also 
sometimes involve additional landscaping above and beyond what is required by code.  In addition to the 
required landscaping around the ponds, the berm along St. Francis Road and the street trees along 
Waterview Trail, the applicant will be required to plant 235 2.5” caliper trees to mitigate the preservation 
trees lost.  In short, there doesn’t appear to be enough space to plant these 235 trees on-site, and 
therefore there wouldn’t be any space beyond that to add additional plantings to reach the level of a 
tangible benefit.  

Summarized, if the subdivision were to be developed as a PUD, the plan would need to change considerably.  For 
example, the lot sizes would be reduced below the 15,000 square feet required for the R-2 zone district, many 
more mature preservation trees would be preserved permanently and at least 20% of the net usable area would 
need to be set aside for usable, common open space (park area).  The development should also not encroach as 
close to Hickory Creek.   

Other 
 

1. The Fire District has reviewed the proposed site plan and does not have any additional comments at this 
time.  
 

2. The applicant is expected to provide a draft copy of the Covenants and Restrictions prior to any future 
public hearing.  
 

3. The applicant is expected to provide a SHPO clearance letter, which would determine if there are any 
significant cultural resources that would be impacted by the proposed development.  
 

4. On November 8, 2022, the applicant was asked by staff to transmit a copy of the proposed Plat to the 
School District and Frankfort Park District in accordance with Section 1B of Ordinance No. 2265, 
commonly referred to as the School and Park Donation Ordinance.  On January 19, 2023, the applicant 
forwarded an email from the Park District, noting that they will be requesting a cash-in-lieu payment from 
the developer.  The payment is a function of the size of each home, which is not known at this time.  
However, the Park District estimates a cash donation between $134,559 and $174,987.  To-date, staff has 
not received a response from the School District but we anticipate that a cash donation based on the 
bedroom formula, and payable at the time of building permit application will be acceptable.  
 

Variations Requested 
 
The applicant is requesting the following variations for the project.  These variations may be memorialized as part 
of the Annexation Agreement and its attachments, which may eventually approved by the Village Board.  Other 
variations may become apparent when more information is received from the applicant or if the plans are revised.  
To “offset” the requested variations, the PC/ZBA may recommend additional amenities to the development, which 
would be conditions of approval that may also make their way into the annexation agreement.  Conversely, the 
PC/ZBA may choose to state for the record during the workshop that they are not in favor of granting some or all 
of the variations.  If the latter is the case, the applicant may choose to redesign the plans to avoid certain 



8 
 

variations, or they may request that the plans proceed to a public hearing with variations, where the PC/ZBA would 
make formal recommendations on the variations, the rezoning and the Plat of Subdivision.  
 
The variations, thus far, are summarized as follows:  
 

1. The minimum lot depth for the R-2 zone district is 150’ for a typical lot, but this lot depth may be 
decreased to 130’ when the rear lot line abuts permanent, common open space.  Lot 11 does not meet 
the minimum 150’ depth requirement and Lots 15-17 do not meet the minimum 130’ depth requirement.  
Please see attached Lot Size, Width and Depth exhibit prepared by staff.  

2. The minimum lot width for the R-2 zone district is 100’ for typical lots and 120’ for corner lots.  There are 
three (3) corner lots proposed (Lot 9, Lot 10 and Lot 26).  These lots are 106.8’, 106.2’ and 106.6’ wide 
respectively, all less than the required 120’ width.  Please see attached Lot Size, Width and Depth exhibit 
prepared by staff. 

3. The 2008 Design Standards notes that the maximum length of the cul-de-sac that serves over 25 homes 
may not exceed 750’ long (page 97).  The proposed road extension of Waterview Trail, including the cul-
de-sac, measures approximately 1,200’, requiring a variation.  

4. The Subdivision Ordinance (Ord-921), notes that cul-de-sacs or dead-end streets serving more than 25 
dwelling units may not exceed 500’ in length.  The proposed road extension of Waterview Trail, including 
the cul-de-sac, measures approximately 1,200’, requiring a variation.  

5. St. Francis Road is classified as a “Community Arterial” road in the 2007 Transportation Plan. The 
Landscape Ordinance requires a 25’ wide landscaped area along the entirety of this right-of-way, including 
125 plant units per 100’ of lineal frontage as well as a 3’ tall landscape berm.   The Preliminary Plat 
illustrates an interrupted 3’ berm along St. Francis Road and the berm is also missing between the 
detention pond and the right-of-way, requiring a variation.  

 

Rezoning, Findings of Fact 
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall submit same, together with its 
recommendations to the Village Board, for action.  Where the purpose and effect of the proposed amendment is 
to change the zoning classification of particular property, the Plan Commission shall make findings based upon all 
the evidence presented to it and shall consider among other pertinent matters, the following:   
 

1. Existing uses of property within the general area of the property in question; 
2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question; 
3. The suitability of the property in question to the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification; 
4. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including changes, if 

any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification; and 
5. The change in zoning is in conformance with the comprehensive plan of the Village and its official map. 

 
Anticipated Review Process 
 
The anticipated review process is as follows:  

1. PC/ZBA workshop #1, May 25, 2023 
2. Applicant and Robinson Engineering work together to obtain Preliminary Engineering approval 
3. PC/ZBA workshop #2 (if necessary) 
4. Applicant and Robinson Engineering work together to obtain Final Engineering approval 
5. PC/ZBA public hearing: Recommendations made for Rezoning, Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and any 

variation requests that would be memorialized as part of the Annexation Agreement 
6. Staff sends Annexation Agreement to Village Attorney for legal review and comment 



9 
 

7. Committee of the Whole review of the Annexation Agreement, including several attachments 
8. Village Board review and action for Preliminary Plat of Subdivision, Ordinance for Annexation Agreement 

(Public Hearing and legal notices required), Ordinance for Annexing Certain Land into Village (Plat of 
Annexation) and Ordinance for Rezoning from E-R (default zoning) to R-2 

9. Return to Plan Commission for review and recommendation of Final Plat of Subdivision 
10. Return to Village Board for review and action for Final Plat of Subdivision  

 
 
 



S L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D

ABBEY DR

W ST FRANCIS RD

BR
EN

DA
N 

ST

W
ATERVIEW TRL

PO
RT

 DR

WOO
DS

DR

AINE DR

FRANCIS LN

FR
ANC

ISC
A W

AY

STAR CT

MAURA CT

CRYSTAL LAKE WAY

LINCOLNWAY LN

LILAC CT

ABBOT CT

AB
BE

Y W
OO

DS
 CT

 N

CONVENT CT

SHIMMERING VIEW CT
CA

RD
IN

AL
 C

T
SHIMMERING VIEW DR

HO
LL

AN
D 

HA
RB

OR
 D

R

0 500 1,000250
Feet

µ
Abbey Woods North - 26-lot subdivision



W ST FRANCIS RD

PO
RT

 DR

BR
EN

DA
N 

ST

FRANCIS LN

WAT
ER

VIE
W

TR
L

MAURA CT

CR
YS

TA
L L

AK
E W

AY

0 250 500125
Feet

µ
Abbey Woods North - 26-lot subdivision



cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Callout
continued



cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Callout
continued



Abbey Woods North

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, National Standards and Support Team,
wetlands_team@fws.gov

Wetlands
Estuarine and Marine Deepwater
Estuarine and Marine Wetland

Freshwater Emergent Wetland
Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland
Freshwater Pond

Lake
Other
Riverine

October 13, 2022

0 0.2 0.40.1 mi

0 0.35 0.70.175 km

1:13,856

This page was produced by the NWI mapper
National Wetlands Inventory (NWI)

This map is for general reference only. The US Fish and Wildlife 
Service is not responsible for the accuracy or currentness of the 
base data shown on this map. All wetlands related data should 
be used in accordance with the layer metadata found on the 
Wetlands Mapper web site.



cgruba
Received





Lot Size, Width and Depth
Staff Exhibit

Lot # Size Required Size Width Required Width Depth Required Depth
1 16,511 15,000 120.0 100.0 133.0 130
2 15,003 15,000 100.0 100.0 143.3 130
3 15,043 15,000 104.5 100.0 144.0 130
4 15,187 15,000 106.8 100.0 152.2 130
5 15,020 15,000 101.9 100.0 161.8 130
6 15,045 15,000 106.6 100.0 153.4 130
7 15,038 15,000 102.0 100.0 147.4 130
8 15,643 15,000 100.0 100.0 157.8 150
9 18,294 15,000 106.8 120.0 151.1 150

10 15,926 15,000 106.2 120.0 150.0 150
11 15,072 15,000 108.5 100.0 128.9 150
12 16,096 15,000 100.0 100.0 150.2 150
13 15,021 15,000 100.0 100.0 135.3 130
14 17,046 15,000 100.0 100.0 169.1 150
15 15,023 15,000 110.2 100.0 122.5 150
16 15,020 15,000 102.6 100.0 146.4 150
17 15,018 15,000 102.7 100.0 146.2 150
18 15,046 15,000 116.1 100.0 152.1 150
19 15,000 15,000 100.0 100.0 150.0 150
20 15,000 15,000 100.0 100.0 150.0 150
21 15,006 15,000 100.0 100.0 150.0 150
22 16,401 15,000 100.0 100.0 162.5 150
23 15,652 15,000 100.0 100.0 151.0 150
24 19,445 15,000 100.0 100.0 162.1 150
25 17,135 15,000 100.0 100.0 157.4 150
26 17,800 15,000 106.6 120.0 171.6 150

AVG 15,827 103.9 150.0



  V
illage of Frankfort 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
esign Standards  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

             June 2007
 

 

97 

 LOCAL ACCESS 

66’ 

32’ 

5’  

M-3.12 

2 

12’ 

One Side Permitted 

45’ 

750’ 

8% 

0.5% 

30 mph 
25 mph 

20’ 

2% 

NEIGHBORHOOD 
COLLECTOR 

66’ 

36’ 

5’ 

M-3.129 

2 

12’ 

OneSidePermitted 

N/A 

N/A 

6% 

0.5% 

30 mph 
25 mph 

30’ 

2% 

MAJOR 
COLLECTOR 

80’ 

36’-51’ 

5’ 

B-6.12 

2-4 

12’ 

Prohibited 

55’ 

1000’ 

6% 

0.5% 

30-45 mph 
* 

40’ 

2% 

COMMUNITY 
ARTERIAL 

80-100’ 

36-53’ 

6’ 

B-6.24 

2-4 

12’ 

Prohibited 

N/A 

N/A 

6% 

0.5% 

30-55 mph 
* 

40’ 

2% 

REGIONAL 
ARTERIAL 

120’ 

53-77’ 

6’ 

B-6.24 

4-6 

12’ 

Prohibited 

N/A 

N/A 

6% 

0.5% 

65 mph 
* 

40’ 

2% 

STREET GEOMETRIC CRITERIA  
 

 

Right-of Way width 

Roadway width1 

Sidewalk width2, 3 

Curb type 

Number of traffic lanes4 

Minimum Lane width 

On Street Parking 

Minimum cul-de-sac pavement radius5 

Maximum cul-de-sac length6 

Maximum grade 

Minimum gutter grade 

Design Speed  
Posted Speed7 

Minimum Return radius8 

Crown 

1. Dimensions are measured back to back of curb 
2. Sidewalk shall be placed in public right-of-way, 1-foot from the property line unless otherwise approved by the Village Engineer 
3. Sidewalk designated as bike path shall be a minimum width of 10’ or as designated on the Bicycle Trail Master Plan. 
4. Four (4) lanes required for traffic volumes over 15,000 ADT.  Six (6) lanes required for traffic volumes over 25,000 ADT. 
5. Cul-de-sac right-of-way radius shall be 75-feet for commercial and industrial streets and 65-feet for all others 
6. The combined length of the street and diameter of the cul-de-sac 
7. *Village streets with curb and gutter shall have 45 mph maximum posted speed.  Design and posted speeds shall be determined by sight distance 

and approved by the Village Engineer. 
8. Return radii should meet turning requirements of appropriate design vehicle designated in Section 6.05B. 
9. Install B-6.12 if no driveway access is required by the Plan Commission. 

 NOTE: These are guidelines.  Actual design subject to Village review and approval. 

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight













ST.   
 FRANCIS    

ROAD

H
IC

K
O

R
Y

C
R

E
E

K

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

T
R

A
IL

0+00

1+00

2+00

3+00

4+00

5+00

6+00

7+00

8+00

9+00

9+85

CR

BFE = 678.3

EX
IS

TI
NG T

REE
 LO

CAT
IO

N

W
IT

H T
AG

 N
UMBE

R (T
YP

)

TR
EE

S
 R

EM
OVE

D

TR
EE

S
 R

EM
OVE

D

TR
EE

S
PR

ES
ER

VE
D

TR
EE

S
PR

ES
ER

VE
D

09
/2

6/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 C

LI
EN

T
04

/0
5/

23
R

FV
TR

EE
S 

PR
ES

ER
VE

D
04

/2
0/

23
R

FV
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

T
R

E
E

 S
U

R
V

E
Y

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

1 1
NOTE:

TREE SIZE & CONDITION INFORMATION

PER HOMER TREE SERVICE

X   (TREE REMOVED)
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X   (TREE REMOVED)
X

X   (TREE REMOVED)
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X   (TREE REMOVED)
X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

Preservation tree removed in fair or good condition

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MH RIM=690.56 12" RCP NE=678.66 12"RCP SE-NW=678.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MH RIM=694.57 12"RCP SE=677.82 12"RCP NW=677.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER 2022 MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND FRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODWAY LIMITS (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

cgruba
Received

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight



cgruba
Received



ST.  FRANCIS  ROAD

18.313 AC.

PIN  19-09-15-300-019

EX. C
O

R
PO

R
ATE LIM

ITS O
F TH

E VILLAG
E O

F FR
AN

KFO
R

T

EX. CORPORATE LIMITS OF
THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT

EX. CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

 

T
R

A
IL

H
IC

K
O
R
Y

CREEK

94
33

 S
T 

FR
AN

CI
S 

RO
AD

FR
AN

KF
OR

T,
 IL

 6
04

23
PI

N 
19

-0
9-

15
-3

00
-0

15
-0

00
0

VACANT ABBEY DRIVE
FRANKFORT, IL 60423

PIN 19-09-15-303-002-0000

92
23

 S
T 

FR
AN

CI
S 

RO
AD

FR
AN

KF
OR

T,
 IL

 6
04

23
PI

N 
19

-0
9-

15
-3

00
-0

02
-0

02
0

20228 WATERVIEW TRAIL

FRANKFORT, IL 60423

PIN 19-09-15-102-078-0000
20257 WATERVIEW TRAIL

FRANKFORT, IL 60423

PIN 19-09-15-105-029-0000

HEARBY ANNEXED

92
79

 M
AU

RA
 C

OU
RT

FR
AN

KF
OR

T,
 IL

 6
04

23

PI
N 

19
-0

9-
15

-1
05

-0
50

-0
00

0

9265 MAURA COURT
FRANKFORT, IL 60423

PIN 19-09-15-105-051-0000

35-3558
PROFESSIONAL

LAND
SURVEYOR
STATE OF
ILLINOIS

  
RO

BE
R T  F .  S L U I S    MANHATTAN,  I LL

I N
OI
S 

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS
COUNTY OF WILL SS

I, _____________________________, AN ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, DO
HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE PLAT AS HEREON DRAWN IS A CORRECT REPRESENTATION
OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THE FOREGOING CAPTION.

FURTHERMORE, I DESIGNATE THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT TO ACT AS MY AGENT FOR
THE PURPOSES OF RECORDING THIS DOCUMENT.

DATED THIS 26th DAY OF JANUARY, 2022.

BY: ________________________________________________________
ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR

LICENSE NO. ________________________________________________

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

 035-003558

ROBERT F. SLUIS

TO

PLAT OF ANNEXATION
THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT, ILLINOIS

OWNERSHIP CERTIFICATE (PIN #19-09-15-300-019 )
STATE OF ILLINOIS)
COUNTY OF           )

DATED THIS        DAY OF               , A.D. 20     .

OWNER

OWNER'S NOTARY CERTIFICATE

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND NOTORIAL SEAL IN                   COUNTY, ILLINOIS

NOTARY PUBLIC
                                                                                         

I,                                   , A NOTARY PUBLIC, IN AND FOR 
SAID COUNTY, IN THE STATE AFORESAID, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE PEOPLE 
WHOSE SIGNATURES APPEAR IN THE "OWNERSHIP CERTIFICATE" ARE PERSONALLY 
KNOWN TO ME TO BE THE SAME PERSONS WHOSE NAMES ARE SUBSCRIBED TO 
THE FOREGOING INSTRUMENT AS SUCH OWNERS AND THAT THEY APPEARED 
BEFORE ME THIS DAY IN PERSON AND ACKNOWLEDGED THAT THEY SIGNED AND 
DELIVERED THE EASEMENT PLAT AS THEIR OWN FREE AND VOLUNTARY ACT FOR 
PURPOSES THEREIN SET FORTH.

THIS        DAY OF               , A.D. 20     .

STATE OF ILLINOIS)
COUNTY OF            )

I,                                                           , DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I AM THE OWNER OF THE
PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THE CAPTION TO THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN AND AS SUCH
OWNER, SO HEREBY CONSENT TO THE ANNEXATION GRANTED BY THIS DOCUMENT.

SS

SS

STATE OF ILLINOIS
COUNTY OF WILL

APPROVED AND ACCEPTED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF
FRANKFORT, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS AT A PUBLIC MEETING HELD:

THIS _______ DAY OF ___________________,  20______ .

BY:___________________________________________________
VILLAGE PRESIDENT

   

ATTEST:______________________________________________
VILLAGE CLERK

PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES CERTIFICATE
SS)

)

LICENSE EXPIRES NOVEMBER 30, 2024

ORDINANCE NO.:___________________________________________________

   

______________________________________________
DATE

DATE BY DESCRIPTION
4/26/23 RFV ISSUE FOR REVIEW

CK. BY: FILE:DR. BY:DATE ISSUED:

ORDERED BY:

JOB NO.: PG:

CIVIL ENGINEERING

SURVEYING

M GINGERICH GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES
MG2A WEST
Professional Design Firm License # 184.005003
P. 815-478-9680   www.mg2a.com   F. 815-478-9685
25620 S. GOUGAR RD    |    MANHATTAN, IL. 60442

2MGA

CLIENT
DRAWN RFSDATE

1 of 1JOB #

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
)

AutoCAD SHX Text
)

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%u                             %%u

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 35 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING SOUTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED, LYING NORTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF HICKORY CREEK, AND LYING WEST OF THE EAST LINE OF THE PARCEL OF LAND DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT NO. R2013-125406, AS MONUMENTED AND OCCUPIED, AND LYING EAST OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF HICKORY CREEK NORTHWOODS SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF SAID SECTION 15, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JULY 3, 2001 AS DOCUMENT NO. R2001-083477, SAID NORTHEAST CORNER BEING THE CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED; THENCE SOUTH 84 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, 190.69 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT; THENCE SOUTH 65 DEGREES 05 MINUTES 49 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE, 331.22 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 24 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, 89.05 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 46 SECONDS WEST, 962.24 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREE 48 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST, 622.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 05 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 43 SECONDS EAST, 380.27 FEET TO THE CENTERLINE OF SAID HICKORY CREEK, AND TO THE TERMINUS OF SAID LINE, ALL IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

cgruba
Received



ST.   
 FRANCIS    

ROAD

H
IC

K
O

R
Y

C
R

E
E

K

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

T
R

A
IL

CR

BFE = 678.3

LOT 1
16,511 SQ.FT.

LOT 2
15,003 SQ.FT.

LOT 3
15,043 SQ.FT.

LOT 4
15,187 SQ.FT.

LOT 5
15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 6
15,045 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,038 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
15,643 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 10

15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 11

15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 15
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 16

15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 19

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,046 SQ.FT.

LOT 20

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 21

15,006 SQ.FT.

LOT 22

16,401 SQ.FT.

LOT 23

15,652 SQ.FT.

LOT 24

19,445 SQ.FT.
LOT 25

17,135 SQ.FT.

LOT 26

17,800 SQ.FT.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

L=204.20' R=65.00'

L=121.85'

R=150.00'

N24°57'30"E
89.79'

N24°57'30"E

89.70'

L=175.46'

R=216.00'

S21°35'04"E

30' B.S.L.

LO
T 

12

16
,09

6 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

13

15
,02

1 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

14

17
,04

6 S
Q.F

T.

N27°07'28"W 154.56'

N88
°0

6'2
6"

E 
16

3.0
0'

S70°39'10"E 150.00'

S70°39'10"E 150.00'

S70°39'10"E 150.00'

S70°39'10"E 150.94'

S70°39'10"E 186.50'

N89
°2

1'0
2"

W
 15

3.3
3'

N80
°33

'45
"W

 15
7.5

5'

N70°39'10"W
 150.35'

N70°39'10"W
 144.52'

N70°39'10"W
 162.83'

S70°39'10"E 138.52'

S6
8°

24
'5

6"
W

43
.9

7'

S19°20'50"W

L=55.43'
R=150.00'

L=107.23' R=216.00'

L=67.04'
R=150.00'

100+00

101+00

102+00

103+00

104+00

105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

111+00

112+00112+18

    W
A

T
E
R
V
IE

W
    T

R
A

IL

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

GF=693.5

T/F=693.5

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.5

T/F=693.0

T/
F=

69
3.0

T/
F=

69
3.

0

T/F=694.0

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=687.0
FBF=685.3

FBF=684.8

L/O
=690.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=689.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.5

T/F=693.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.2
FBF=685.5

L/O=688.0

T/F=694.0FBF=685.3
L/O=687.0

FBF=684.3W/O=684.8

FB
F=

68
4.3

W
/O

=6
84

.8

FB
F=

68
4.

3
W

/O
=6

84
.8

FBF=685.3
W/O=685.8

FBF=684.8

W/O=685.3

FBF=684.8

W
/O=685.3

FBF=685.8

W
/O=686.3

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3
L/O=688.0

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=684.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=685.3

102.60'

102.70'

102.70'

102.60'

155.79'

103.14'

107.54'

N1°49'31"W 135.82'

106.15'

21.91'

66.00'

33.30'

9.18'

25.00'

79.28'

102.00'

110.82'

40.61'

66.24'

47.81'

N0°41'41"E 795.84'

106.12'

165.02'

35.00'

180.28'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

79.85'

100.00'

100.00'

53.86'

100.00'

64.54'

9.10'

19.06'

L=99.60'

L=
45

.0
9'

L=43
.9

1'

L=48.12'

L=87.42 '

N24°57'30"E 149.49'

N
59

°1
0'

12
"E

 1
93

.3
8'

N89
°1

8'2
1"

W
 14

5.9
6'

N79°26'12"W
 142.15'

N71°56'54"W
 135.96'

N88
°1

0'2
4"

E 
14

6.3
2'

S8
8°

10
'23

"W
 15

0.0
3'

S8
8°

10
'24

"W
 15

0.0
3'

N88
°1

0'2
4"

E 
14

6.4
8'

N16°04'22"E 102.17'

S63°31'42"E 139.14'

N
70

°3
7'

11
"E

 1
26

.9
7'

N
44

°1
1'

26
"E

 6
2.

88
'

S6
8°

24
'5

6"
W

43
.3

8'
L=

3 4
.8

4 '

L=59.25' L=41.20'

L=
68

.9
2'

L=40.13'

L=67.05'

L=20.18'

L=20.75'

L=52.37'

L=97.06'

L=26.04'

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

19-09-15-300-002-0000

ZONING: RE - ESTATE RESIDENTIAL

USE: RELIGIOUS FACILITIES

19-09-15-102-078-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT/DETENTION

19-09-15-105-029-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT

15' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

25
' P

U&D
E

15
' P

U&D
E

PROP. STREETLIGHT, TYP.

OUTL
OT 

B

DRAI
NAG

E 
&

CONSE
RVA

TI
ON E

AS
EM

EN
T

10
2,8

36
 sq

.ft.

OUTL
OT 

A

DRAI
NAG

E,
 D

ET
EN

TI
ON, B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LIT

Y 
EA

SE
MEN

T

62
,25

3 s
q.f

t.

N88
°0

6'1
3"

E 
75

.12
'

N1°53'47"W 147.56'
N73°15'08"W

 135.00'

S8
8°

04
'55

"W
 16

0.0
0'

206.44'

203.34'

149.82'

S5°13'46"E 380.27'

42.26'

48
.7

0'

47
.5

2'

100.11'

79
.7

8'

80
.3

2'

98
.18

'

10' PU&DE &

DETN ACCESS E.

15' PU&DE

25' PU&DE

S14°50'33"E 103.92'

S16°04'22"W
 84.85'

S16°04'22"W
 83.54'

S14°50'33"E 97.15'

25.38'

20
.6

8'

S25°07'52"W
 131.86'

141.41'

134.43'

133.00'

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&D
E

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

OUTLOT C

DRAINAGE, DETENTION &

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

68,768 SQ.FT.

10
0.0

'

100.0'

100.0'

10
0.

0'

PR
OP.

 10
' M

ULT
I-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

PROP. 6' SIDEWALK

L=15.04'

OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.

OUTLOT D2,641 SQ.FT.

L=10.93'

19.29'

S8
8°

10
'27

"W
 15

0.0
3'

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

89
.50

'

30' B.S.L.

50
' B

.S
.L

.

L=59.07'

R=216.00'

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'

R2
0.

0'

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

20.00' 20.00'

20.00'

20.00'

SIGN ESM'T

SIGN ESM'T
LP-1

LP-2

LP-3

LP
-4

LP
-5

S0°41'16"W 101.64'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

75.0'

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

106.15'

121.07'

10
0.

0'

N88
°1

0'2
4"

E 
14

6.1
6'

148.05'

47.48'

3.00'

11.04'

30' B.S.L.

PROP. 50' ROW DEDICATION

T/F=694.5

GF=692.5

30' B.S.L.

10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

10' PU&DE

S65°06'56"E 634.74'

50.23'

50
.0

'

50
.0

'

17
1.

6'

15
7.

4'

16
2.

1'

151.0'

162.5'

150.0'

150.0'

150.0'

15
2.1

'

14
6.2

'

14
6.4

'

122.5'

169.1'

135.3'

15
0.

2'

12
8.

9'

15
0.0

'

151.1'

157.8'

147.4'

153.4'

16
1.8

'

15
2.2

'

14
4.0

'

143.3'

133.5'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

11
6.1

'

102.7'

102.6'

110.2'

108.5'

106.2'

106.8'

10
2.

0'

10
1.9

'

106.8'

104.5'

10
0.0

'

12
0.

0'

10
6.

6'

10
0.

0'

10
6.

6'

10
0.

0'

BFE = 675.9 (10-YR)

(100-YR)

20' PU&DE

10
' P

U&D
E

39.04'

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
94

33
 S

T
 F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

1 2

SITE DATA SUMMARY

GROSS SITE AREA 18.31 ACRES

ST. FRANCIS ROAD ROW 0.73 ACRES
ON-SITE ROAD ROW 2.40 ACRES
NORTH DETENTION HWL 1.19 ACRES
SOUTH DETENTION HWL 0.81 ACRES

NET SITE AREA 18.31 - 5.13 = 13.18 ACRES

PROPOSED ZONING R-2 SINGLE-FAMILY

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS 26 UNITS (SUBJECT TO CROSS-ACCESS)

GROSS DENSITY 26/18.31 = 1.42 UNITS/ACRE (GROSS)

NET DENSITY 26/13.18 = 1.97 UNITS/ACRE (NET)

MINIMUM LOT WIDTH 100-FT

MINIMUM LOT DEPTH 150-FT (130-FT ADJ. TO OPEN SPACE)

MINIMUM LOT AREA 15,000 SQ FT

MINIMUM CORNER LOT WIDTH 120-FT (106-FT LOTS 9, 10, 26 REQUESTED)

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT       35-FT

REQUIRED FRONT YARD SETBACK     30-FT

REQUIRED REAR YARD SETBACK     30-FT

REQUIRED SIDE YARD SETBACK             25-FT TOTAL (10-FT MIN.)

PROPOSED TYPICAL STREET CROSS SECTION

12.5' B.S.L.

12.5' B.S.L.

30
' B

.S
.L

.

30
' B

.S
.L

.

TYPICAL LOT SETBACK DETAIL

OR 10' MIN. TOTAL
OF 25' PER R-2

FR
O

N
T

R
EA

R

SIDE

PIN: 19-09-15-300-019-0000

LOT AREA TABLE
LOT 1 16,511 S.F.
LOT 2 15,003 S.F.
LOT 3 15,043 S.F.
LOT 4 15,187 S.F.
LOT 5 15,020 S.F.
LOT 6 15,045 S.F.
LOT 7 15,038 S.F.
LOT 8 15,643 S.F.
LOT 9 18,294 S.F.
LOT 10 15,926 S.F.
LOT 11 15,072 S.F.
LOT 12 16,096 S.F.
LOT 13 15,021 S.F.
LOT 14 17,046 S.F.
LOT 15 15,023 S.F.
LOT 16 15,020 S.F.
LOT 17 15,018 S.F.
LOT 18 15,046 S.F.
LOT 19 15,000 S.F.
LOT 20 15,000 S.F.
LOT 21 15,006 S.F.
LOT 22 16,401 S.F.
LOT 23 15,652 S.F.
LOT 24 19,445 S.F.
LOT 25 17,135 S.F.
LOT 26 17,800 S.F.

OUTLOT A 62,253 S.F.
OUTLOT B 115,270 S.F.
OUTLOT C 68,425 S.F.
OUTLOT D 2,641 S.F.
OUTLOT E 1,066 S.F.

NOTES:

1.  OUTLOTS A, B & C, THE DETENTION, BIKE PATH & CONSERVATION AREAS, SHALL BE   
MAINTAINED BY THE HOA.  THIS SHOULD BE ADDED TO THE COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS.

2. OUTLOTS D AND E, THE CUL-DE-SAC ISLANDS, SHALL BE MAINTAINED BY THE HOA.
THIS SHOULD BE ADDED TO THE COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS.

3. THE CUL-DE-SACS HAVE A DIAMETER OF 130 FEET (SHOWN AS A 65-FOOT RADIUS).

4. THE CUL-DE-SAC ISLANDS HAVE A DIAMETER OF 40 FEET (SHOWN AS A 20-FOOT RADIUS).

5. ALL SIDEWALKS SHALL BE 5 FEET WIDE, EXCEPT THE SIDEWALK ALONG ST FRANCIS ROAD
SHALL BE 6 FEET WIDE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER 2022 MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND FRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODWAY LIMITS (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.27 AC-FT HWL=681.1 NWL=676.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.41 AC-FT HWL=683.40 NWL=679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB & GUTTER TY. M3.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMBINATION CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
32' B-B

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 66' STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4" PER FOOT SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ SUB-BASE GRANULAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.C.C SIDEWALK - 5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATERIAL TY B - 3" MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY INDIVIDUAL LOT OWNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITUMINOUS MATERIALS (PRIME COAT) MC-30 @ 0.35 GAL./SQ. YD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITUMINOUS CONCRETE BINDER COURSE (MIXTURE B) - 2 1/4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITUMINOUS CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, MIXTURE D, CL.I - 1 1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TY. B - 12" CA #6

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
& 6" THROUGH DRIVEWAYS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 35 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING SOUTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED, LYING NORTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF HICKORY CREEK, AND LYING WEST OF THE EAST LINE OF THE PARCEL OF LAND DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT NO. R2013-125406, AS MONUMENTED AND OCCUPIED, AND LYING EAST OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF HICKORY CREEK NORTHWOODS SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF SAID SECTION 15, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JULY 3, 2001 AS DOCUMENT NO. R2001-083477, SAID NORTHEAST CORNER BEING THE CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED; THENCE SOUTH 84 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, 190.69 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT; THENCE SOUTH 65 DEGREES 05 MINUTES 49 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE, 331.22 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 24 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 08 SECONDS WEST, 89.05 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 46 SECONDS WEST, 962.24 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREE 48 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST, 622.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 05 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 43 SECONDS EAST, 380.27 FEET TO THE CENTERLINE OF SAID HICKORY CREEK, AND TO THE TERMINUS OF SAID LINE, ALL IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

cgruba
Received



H
IC
K
O
R
Y

C
R
E
E
K

CR

BFE = 678.3

LOT 7
15,038 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
15,643 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 10

15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 11

15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 15
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 16

15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,046 SQ.FT.

LO
T 

12

16
,09

6 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

13

15
,02

1 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

14

17
,04

6 S
Q.F

T.

108+00

109+00

110+00

111+00

112+00
112+18

P6
91
.5
0

P6
92
.1
0

P6
91
.4
0

P6
80
.5
0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.0

T/
F=

69
3.0

T/
F=

69
3.

0

8"
 P

VC
 S

AN
 36

3 L
.F

.@
 0.

5%

8" P
VC IN

V. S
=683.46

8"
 P

VC
 IN

V.
 S

=6
85

.28

P6
91
.7

P6
91
.8

P692.1

P69
2.2

P692.1

P6
91
.4 P690.2

P6
91
.1

P6
91
.3

P
69

1.
5P
69
2.
0

P
69
2.
5

P6
92
.4

P
69
2.
5

P6
91
.8

P6
91
.5

P
69

2.
3

P690.5

BE
GIN

T/
W

=6
84

.5

B/
W

=6
84

.0
T/

W
=6

83
.2

B/
W

=6
81

.2

P683.2

EN
D T/

W
=6

82
.9

B/
W

=6
82

.4

UPP
ER

 T
/W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

P6
92
.5

P68
2.1

P68
2.2

P
68

2.
5

P6
85
.5

P
68
5.
3

P68
4.0

P
69
2.
9

P
69
3.
1

P
69
2.
6

T/
W

=6
83

.0 
BE

GIN

B/
W

=6
82

.5

T/
W

=6
82

.8

B/
W

=6
81

.0

T/
W

=6
82

.5

B/
W

=6
81

.0

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

P
68
7.
0

P
68
7.
0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3 P

68
7.
0

T/F=694.0

L/O=687.0
FBF=685.3

P6
92
.0

P
69

2.
1

P
68
8.
0

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

P692.5

P692.4

P
68
8.
0

P
68
8.
0

P6
90
.5

P68
2.5

P
68

2.
8

P6
82
.5

P
68

2.
9

P
682.4

P
682.8

P
68
2.
2

P685
.2

P
68

3.
0

P682.8

P683.4

P
68

3.
3

T/F=694.0

P68
2.5

T/F=694.2
FBF=685.5

L/O=688.0

T/F=694.0FBF=685.3
L/O=687.0

FBF=684.3W/O=684.8

P
68
7.
7

P
69
2.
0

FB
F=

68
4.3

W
/O

=6
84

.8

FB
F=

68
4.

3
W

/O
=6

84
.8

P692
.40

P692.8

P6
91
.0
0

P6
91
.00

P
67
8.
5

P
67
8.
0

P
67
7.
0

P6
76
.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3
L/O=688.0

P6
85
.8

P683.0

P
68

3.
0

P
68

2.
7

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

P
67
7.
5

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

20' PU&DE

25
' P

U&D
E

15
' P

U&D
E

OUTL
OT 

B

DRAI
NAG

E 
&

CONSE
RVA

TI
ON E

AS
EM

EN
T

10
2,8

36
 sq

.ft.

OUTL
OT 

A

DRAI
NAG

E,
 D

ET
EN

TI
ON, B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LIT

Y 
EA

SE
MEN

T

62
,25

3 s
q.f

t.

10' PU&DE &

DETN ACCESS E.

25' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&D
E

PR
OP.

 10
' M

ULT
I-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
78

.5

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
81

.5 OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
78

.0

LO
W

ER
 T

/W
=6

81
.5

B/
W

=6
79

.0

P682.9

P683.4

30' B.S.L.

50
' B

.S
.L

.

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

LP
-4

LP
-5

75.0'

P67
8.7

P6
91
.2
0

P6
91
.5

P68
3.7

P682
.5

P
68
2.
1

P
682.3

P
68

1.
5

P
68
4.
4

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

P68
1.3

P68
2.0

P
68
3.
4

GRAD
E 

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON

TO
 E

X.
 IN

 P
ROP.

 R
.O

.W
.

P
68
3.
3

P681
.9

P6
81.

5
P681.4

P681.2

P682.4

P6
81
.4

P67
8.6

@0.5
%

@4.7
%

@1.5
%

@4.5
%

@5.0%

@4.0%

@0.5
%

@05
%

@1.1% @1.3%

@5
.0%

LO
W

ER
 T

/W
=6

81
.5

B/
W

=6
78

.5

UPP
ER

 T
/W

=6
83

.2

B/
W

=6
82

.0

P
68
2.
8

P68
9.5

P6
90
.2

P68
1.3

P681.2

P681.7
P681.8

P67
9.2

P679.1

P682.1P682.3

P6
82
.5

P
68
2.
1

P681.3
P68

1.4

@0.5
%

30' B.S.L.

P
690.9

P6
82
.6P
68

2.
3

P
68

2.
1

T/
W

=6
82

.5 
EN

D

B/
W

=6
82

.0

@6.7
%

@3.5
%

@4.2
%

@6.5%

@4.5%

@3.0%

L.P.

P
68
2.
60

H.P
.

@0.6%

@0.5%

@5.9
%

L.P
.

P690.9@1.6%

P6
92
.0

P68
1.5

P681.4

@0.5
%

T/
W

=6
83

.1

B/
W

=6
81

.1

10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

10' PU&DE

@4:1

@8:1

10' ACCESS

10' ACCESS

5' WIDE T/BERM 682.1

20'WIDE OVERFLOW

WEIR EL. 682.10

P6
82
.8

BE
GIN

 T
/W

=6
82

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
79

.5

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
79

.0

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
78

.5

EN
D T

/W
=6

81
.5

B/
W

=6
81

.0

SOUTH BASIN 7.24 AC

OFFSITE 2.34 AC

(TO CULVERT UNDER PATH)

OFFSITE TO CREEK

20' PU&DE

10
' P

U&D
E

T/
W

=6
83

.0

B/
W

=6
81

.6

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

�
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

2a 2

LEGEND:           
- PR. STORM SEWER

- PR. STORM SEWER CURB INLET

- PR. STORM SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. SANITARY SEWER

- PR. SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. WATER MAIN

- PR. FIRE HYDRANT

- PR. STREET LIGHT

- PR. OVERLAND FLOW ROUTE

DETENTION BASINS

Note: Garage Floor is 6" below T/F, unless noted otherwise.

Continued on 2b

Note: Multi-Use Path shall have 2' wide flat space (6:1 max)
each side per AASHTO criteria.

Note: Lot grading shall not exceed 5:1 slopes on grassed areas.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER 2022 MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND FRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODWAY LIMITS (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.27 AC-FT HWL=681.1 NWL=676.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'



ST.   
 FRANCIS    

ROAD

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

T
R

A
IL

2+00

3+00

4+00

5+00

6+00

7+00

8+00

LOT 1
16,511 SQ.FT.

LOT 2
15,003 SQ.FT.

LOT 3
15,043 SQ.FT.

LOT 4
15,187 SQ.FT.

LOT 5
15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 6
15,045 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,038 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
15,643 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 19

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,046 SQ.FT.

LOT 20

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 21

15,006 SQ.FT.

LOT 22

16,401 SQ.FT.

LOT 23

15,652 SQ.FT.

LOT 24

19,445 SQ.FT.
LOT 25

17,135 SQ.FT.

LOT 26

17,800 SQ.FT.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30 ' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

100+00

101+00

102+00

103+00

104+00

105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

    W
A

T
E
R
V
IE

W
    T

R
A

IL

P6
91
.5
0

P689.50

P6
92
.0
0

P6
91
.5
0

P6
92
.1
0

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

GF=693.5

T/F=693.5

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.5

8" PVC SAN 250 L.F.@ 0.5%

8"
 P

VC
 S

AN
 31

7 L
.F

.@
 0.

5%

8" P
VC SAN

380 L.F.@
 0.5%

8" PVC INV. S=678.70

8" PVC INV. S=679.97

8" P
VC IN

V. S=681.56

8" P
VC IN

V. S
=683.46

P6
89
.2
0

P6
89
.4

P6
90
.9

P6
91
.5

P6
90
.7

P68
9.9

P691.6

P6
92
.2

P6
91
.7

P6
91
.8

P692.1

P69
2.2

P
69
2.
5

P
69
2.
5

P6
91
.8

P6
91
.5

P6
92
.0

P6
92
.1

P6
90
.8

P6
89
.9

P6
90
.2

P6
91
.2

P6
91
.6

P6
92
.0

P6
91
.1

P6
90
.6

P6
89
.6

P6
90
.6

P6
92
.4

P683.2

P6
91
.0

P6
91
.7

P693.0

P
69
4.
0

P6
91
.0

P692.2

P
69
3.
4

P
69
4.
5

P691.8

P
69
0.
6

P
69
1.
1

P693.5

P6
90
.1

P
69
0.
6

P
69
1.
2

P
69
0.
7

P
68
8.
0

P
69

2.
5

P6
92
.6

P6
93
.0

P6
92
.5

P6
85
.5

P6
86
.3

P6
86
.6

P6
87
.3

P
69
2.
9

P
69
3.
1

P6
90
.0

P6
91
.3

P6
90
.0

T/F=694.0

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

P6
90
.0

P6
90
.0

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

P
68
7.
0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

P69
2.9

P69
1.1

P69
0.3

P692.0

P693.2

P
69

2.
1

P
69
1.
3

P684.4

FBF=684.8

L/O
=690.0

P
68
8.
0

FBF=685.3

L/O=689.0

T/F=694.0P
68
8.
0

P
68
7.
0

P
68
7.
0

T/F=693.5

T/F=693.5

T/F=694.5

P
68
7.
0

P
68
8.
0

P
68
8.
0

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

P692.5

P
68
8.
0

P683.4

T/F=694.0
P692

.40

P692.8

P
67
9.
5

P
68
0.
5

P
68
2.
0

P
68
3.
8

FBF=685.3
W/O=685.8

FBF=684.8

W/O=685.3

FBF=684.8

W
/O=685.3

FBF=685.8

W
/O=686.3

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3
L/O=688.0

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=684.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=685.3

P691.5

P
69
3.
5

P
69
5.
0

P
69
1.
1

P6
85
.8

P
68
4.
2

P
68
3.
5

P6
89
.2

P
67
9.
0

PROP. HOT TAPS (2)

W/ VALVE IN VAULT

EX. HYDRANT

19-09-15-102-078-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT/DETENTION

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT

15' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

PROP. STREETLIGHT, TYP.

10' PU&DE &

DETN ACCESS E.

15' PU&DE

ADJACENT PROPERTY GRADING

SUBJECT TO OWNER APPROVAL

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

OUTLOT C

DRAINAGE, DETENTION &

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

68,768 SQ.FT.

PROP. 6' SIDEWALK

OUTLOT D2,641 SQ.FT.

P6
94
.1

P6
93
.0

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'

R2
0.

0'

SIGN ESM'T

SIGN ESM'T
LP-1

LP-2

LP-3

LP
-4

CONNECT TO EX. SAN. MH

PR
OP.

 O
UTL

ET

CONTR
OL S

TR
UCT.

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT
25

'

P6
91
.2
0

P6
91
.5

P6
93
.0

P
68
4.
4

P
68
4.
4

P
68
4.
4

P
68
4.
4

P
68
4.
4

P
68
4.
4

P
68
4.
4

INSTALL 2-8" W
ATER LINES IN ONE AUGER CASING

P
69
1.
3

P6
90
.0

@3.5
%

@6.5%

@4.5%

@6.5%
@6

.5%

@7.5
%

@4.5%

@5.8%

@6
.5%

@7.1%

H.P.

L.P.

@0.5
3%

@1.2
5%

L.
P.

@0.55%

@067%H.P
.

H.P
.

@0.6%

@0.5%

@5.9
%

AUGER PROP. SAN. UNDER PAV'T

PROP. 50' ROW DEDICATION

T/F=694.5

GF=692.5

P
68
4.
6

P
68
8.
8

P
68
9.
4

P68
4.8

30' B.S.L.

P6
88
.9
0

10' PU&DE

@4:1
@8:1

10' ACCESS

5' WIDE T/BERM 684.4

NORTH BASIN 7.63 AC

OFFSITE 1.56 AC

OFFSITE 0.97 AC

(TO SOUTH BASIN)

( TO NORTH BASIN)

20' PU&DE

EX. UTILITY POLE TO BE RELOCATED

COORDINATE W/ UTILITY COMPANY

20
' W

ID
E 

OVE
RFL

OW

W
EI

R E
L. 

68
3.4

0

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

2b 2

LEGEND:           
- PR. STORM SEWER

- PR. STORM SEWER CURB INLET

- PR. STORM SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. SANITARY SEWER

- PR. SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. WATER MAIN

- PR. FIRE HYDRANT

- PR. STREET LIGHT

- PR. OVERLAND FLOW ROUTE

Note: Garage Floor is 6" below T/F, unless noted otherwise

Continued on 2a

L.P.
H.P. - PR. HIGH POINT

- PR.LOW POINT

BENCHMARK:  PER SURVEY REGIONAL VRSNOW RTK
GNSS NETWORK SET CUT CROSS IN
CURB NEAR THE NORTHEAST CORNER
OF PROPERTY ELEV.=693.45 (NAVD 88)

BENCHMARK

Note: Lot grading shall not exceed 5:1 slopes on grassed areas.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MH RIM=690.56 12" RCP NE=678.66 12"RCP SE-NW=678.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.41 AC-FT HWL=683.40 NWL=679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'



H
IC
K
O
R
Y

C
R
E
E
K

CR

BFE = 678.3

LOT 7
15,038 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
15,643 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 10

15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 11

15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 15
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 16

15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,046 SQ.FT.

LO
T 

12

16
,09

6 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

13

15
,02

1 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

14

17
,04

6 S
Q.F

T.

108+00

109+00

110+00

111+00

112+00
112+18

P6
91
.5
0

P6
92
.1
0

P6
91
.4
0

P6
80
.5
0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.0

T/
F=

69
3.0

T/
F=

69
3.

0

8"
 P

VC
 S

AN
 36

3 L
.F

.@
 0.

5%

8" P
VC IN

V. S
=683.46

8"
 P

VC
 IN

V.
 S

=6
85

.28

P6
91
.7

P6
91
.8

P692.1

P69
2.2

P692.1

P6
91
.4 P690.2

P6
91
.1

P6
91
.3

P
69

1.
5P
69
2.
0

P
69
2.
5

P6
92
.4

P
69
2.
5

P6
91
.8

P6
91
.5

P
69

2.
3

P690.5

BE
GIN

T/
W

=6
84

.5

B/
W

=6
84

.0
T/

W
=6

83
.2

B/
W

=6
81

.2

P683.2

EN
D T/

W
=6

82
.9

B/
W

=6
82

.4

UPP
ER

 T
/W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

P6
92
.5

P68
2.1

P68
2.2

P
68

2.
5

P6
85
.5

P
68
5.
3

P68
4.0

P
69
2.
9

P
69
3.
1

P
69
2.
6

T/
W

=6
83

.0 
BE

GIN

B/
W

=6
82

.5

T/
W

=6
82

.8

B/
W

=6
81

.0

T/
W

=6
82

.5

B/
W

=6
81

.0

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

P
68
7.
0

P
68
7.
0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3 P

68
7.
0

T/F=694.0

L/O=687.0
FBF=685.3

P6
92
.0

P
69

2.
1

P
68
8.
0

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

P692.5

P692.4

P
68
8.
0

P
68
8.
0

P6
90
.5

P68
2.5

P
68

2.
8

P6
82
.5

P
68

2.
9

P
682.4

P
682.8

P
68
2.
2

P685
.2

P
68

3.
0

P682.8

P683.4

P
68

3.
3

T/F=694.0

P68
2.5

T/F=694.2
FBF=685.5

L/O=688.0

T/F=694.0FBF=685.3
L/O=687.0

FBF=684.3W/O=684.8

P
68
7.
7

P
69
2.
0

FB
F=

68
4.3

W
/O

=6
84

.8

FB
F=

68
4.

3
W

/O
=6

84
.8

P692
.40

P692.8

P6
91
.0
0

P6
91
.00

P
67
8.
5

P
67
8.
0

P
67
7.
0

P6
76
.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3
L/O=688.0

P6
85
.8

P683.0

P
68

3.
0

P
68

2.
7

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

P
67
7.
5

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

20' PU&DE

25
' P

U&D
E

15
' P

U&D
E

OUTL
OT 

B

DRAI
NAG

E 
&

CONSE
RVA

TI
ON E

AS
EM

EN
T

10
2,8

36
 sq

.ft.

OUTL
OT 

A

DRAI
NAG

E,
 D

ET
EN

TI
ON, B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LIT

Y 
EA

SE
MEN

T

62
,25

3 s
q.f

t.

10' PU&DE &

DETN ACCESS E.

25' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&D
E

PR
OP.

 10
' M

ULT
I-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
78

.5

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
81

.5 OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
78

.0

LO
W

ER
 T

/W
=6

81
.5

B/
W

=6
79

.0

P682.9

P683.4

30' B.S.L.

50
' B

.S
.L

.

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

LP
-4

LP
-5

75.0'

P67
8.7

P6
91
.2
0

P6
91
.5

P68
3.7

P682
.5

P
68
2.
1

P
682.3

P
68

1.
5

P
68
4.
4

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

P68
1.3

P68
2.0

P
68
3.
4

GRAD
E 

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON

TO
 E

X.
 IN

 P
ROP.

 R
.O

.W
.

P
68
3.
3

P681
.9

P6
81.

5
P681.4

P681.2

P682.4

P6
81
.4

P67
8.6

@0.5
%

@4.7
%

@1.5
%

@4.5
%

@5.0%

@4.0%

@0.5
%

@05
%

@1.1% @1.3%

@5
.0%

LO
W

ER
 T

/W
=6

81
.5

B/
W

=6
78

.5

UPP
ER

 T
/W

=6
83

.2

B/
W

=6
82

.0

P
68
2.
8

P68
9.5

P6
90
.2

P68
1.3

P681.2

P681.7
P681.8

P67
9.2

P679.1

P682.1P682.3

P6
82
.5

P
68
2.
1

P681.3
P68

1.4

@0.5
%

30' B.S.L.

P
690.9

P6
82
.6P
68

2.
3

P
68

2.
1

T/
W

=6
82

.5 
EN

D

B/
W

=6
82

.0

@6.7
%

@3.5
%

@4.2
%

@6.5%

@4.5%

@3.0%

L.P.

P
68
2.
60

H.P
.

@0.6%

@0.5%

@5.9
%

L.P
.

P690.9@1.6%

P6
92
.0

P68
1.5

P681.4

@0.5
%

T/
W

=6
83

.1

B/
W

=6
81

.1

10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

10' PU&DE

@4:1

@8:1

10' ACCESS

10' ACCESS

5' WIDE T/BERM 682.1

20'WIDE OVERFLOW

WEIR EL. 682.10

P6
82
.8

BE
GIN

 T
/W

=6
82

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
79

.5

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
79

.0

T/
W

=6
81

.5

B/
W

=6
78

.5

EN
D T

/W
=6

81
.5

B/
W

=6
81

.0

SOUTH BASIN 7.24 AC

OFFSITE 2.34 AC

(TO CULVERT UNDER PATH)

OFFSITE TO CREEK

20' PU&DE

10
' P

U&D
E

T/
W

=6
83

.0

B/
W

=6
81

.6

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

�
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

2a 2

LEGEND:           
- PR. STORM SEWER

- PR. STORM SEWER CURB INLET

- PR. STORM SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. SANITARY SEWER

- PR. SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. WATER MAIN

- PR. FIRE HYDRANT

- PR. STREET LIGHT

- PR. OVERLAND FLOW ROUTE

DETENTION BASINS

Note: Garage Floor is 6" below T/F, unless noted otherwise.

Continued on 2b

Note: Multi-Use Path shall have 2' wide flat space (6:1 max)
each side per AASHTO criteria.

Note: Lot grading shall not exceed 5:1 slopes on grassed areas.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER 2022 MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND FRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODWAY LIMITS (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.27 AC-FT HWL=681.1 NWL=676.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Callout
RETAINING WALL

cgruba
Callout
RETAINING WALL

cgruba
Callout
RETAINING WALL



cgruba
Received





ST.   
 FRANCIS

    
ROAD

W
A

T
E
R
V
IE

W

T
R
A

IL
0+00

1+00

2+00

3+00

4+00

5+00

6+00

7+00

8+00

9+00

9+85

LOT 1
16,511 SQ.FT.

LOT 2
15,003 SQ.FT.

LOT 3
15,043 SQ.FT. LOT 4

15,187 SQ.FT.

LOT 5
15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 6
15,045 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,038 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
15,643 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 10
15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 11
15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 15
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 16
15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 17
15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 19

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,046 SQ.FT.

LOT 20

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 21

15,006 SQ.FT.

LOT 22

16,401 SQ.FT.

LOT 23

15,652 SQ.FT.

LOT 24

19,445 SQ.FT.

LOT 25

17,135 SQ.FT.

LOT 26

17,800 SQ.FT.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

L=204.20' R=65.00'

L=121.85'
R=150.00'

N24°57'30"E
89.79'

N24°57'30"E

89.70'

L=175.46'
R=216.00'

S21°35'04"E

30' B.S.L.

LO
T 

12
16

,0
96

 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

13
15

,0
21

 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

14
17

,0
46

 S
Q.F

T.

N27°07'28"W 154.56'

N8
8°

06
'26

"E
 1

63
.0

0'

S70°39'10"E 150.00'

S70°39'10"E 150.00'

S70°39'10"E 150.00'

S70°39'10"E 150.94'

S70°39'10"E 186.50'

N89
°2

1'0
2"

W
 15

3.3
3'

N80
°3

3'4
5"W

 15
7.5

5'

N70°39'10"W
 150.35'

N70°39'10"W
 144.52'

N70°39'10"W
 162.83'

S70°39'10"E 138.52'

S6
8°

24
'5

6"
W

43
.9

7'

S19°20'50"W

L=55.43'

R=150.00'

L=107.23' R=216.00'

L=67.04'
R=150.00'

100+00

101+00

102+00

103+00

104+00

105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

111+00

112+00112+18

    W
A
T
E
R
V
IE

W
    T

R
A
IL

102.60'

102.70'

102.70'

102.60'

155.79'

103.14'

107.54'

N1°49'31"W 135.82'

106.15'

21.91'

66.00'

33.30'

9.18'

25.00'
79.28'

102.00'

110.82'

40.61'

66.24'

47.81'

N0°41'41"E 838.63'

N65°02'30"W 285.46'

106.12'

165.02'

35.00'

180.28'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

79.85'

100.00'

100.00'

53.86'

100.00'

64.54'

9.10'

19.06'

L=99.60'

L=
45

.0
9'

L=43
.9

1'

L=48.12'

L=87.42 '

N24°57'30"E 149.49'

N
59

°1
0'

12
"E

 1
93

.3
8'

N89
°1

8'2
1"

W
 14

5.9
6'N79

°26
'12

"W
 14

2.1
5'

N71°56'54"W
 135.96'

N8
8°

10
'24

"E
 1

46
.3

2'

S8
8°

10
'23

"W
 1

50
.0

3'

S8
8°

10
'24

"W
 1

50
.0

3'

N8
8°

10
'24

"E
 1

46
.4

8'

N16°04'22"E 102.17'

S63°31'42"E 139.14'

N
70

°3
7'

11
"E

 1
26

.9
7'

N
44

°1
1'

26
"E

 6
2.

88
'

S6
8°

24
'5

6"
W

43
.3

8'
L=

3 4
.8

4 '

L=59.25' L=41.20'

L=
68

.9
2'

L=40.13'

L=67.05'

L=20.18'

L=20.75'

L=52.37'

L=97.06'

L=26.04'

PROP. HOT TAPS (2)

W/ VALVE IN VAULT

EX. HYDRANT

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

19-09-15-300-002-0000

ZONING: RE - ESTATE RESIDENTIAL

USE: RELIGIOUS FACILITIES

19-09-15-102-078-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT/DETENTION

19-09-15-105-029-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT

15' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

25
' P

U&
DE

15
' P

U&
DE

PROP. STREETLIGHT, TYP.

OUT
LO

T 
B

DR
AI

NA
GE 

&

CO
NS

ER
VA

TI
ON 

EA
SE

M
EN

T

10
2,

83
6 

sq
.ft

.

OUT
LO

T 
A

DR
AI

NA
GE,

 D
ET

EN
TI

ON,
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LI

TY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

62
,2

53
 sq

.ft
.

N8
8°

06
'13

"E
 7

5.
12

'

N1°53'47"W 147.56' N73°15'08"W
 135.00'

S8
8°

04
'55

"W
 1

60
.0

0'

203.34'

98
.1

8'

10' PU&DE &

DETN ACCESS E.

15' PU&DE

25' PU&DE

S14°50'33"E 103.92'

S16°04'22"W
 84.85'

S16°04'22"W
 83.54'

S14°50'33"E 97.15'

25.38'

20
.6

8'

S25°07'52"W
 131.86'

141.41'

151.97'

133.00'

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&
DE

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

OUTLOT C

DRAINAGE, DETENTION &

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

68,768 SQ.FT.

54.82'

PR
OP.

 1
0' 

M
UL

TI
-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

PROP. 6' SIDEWALK

L=15.04'

OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.

OUTLOT D2,641 SQ.FT.

L=10.93'

19.29'

S8
8°

10
'27

"W
 1

50
.0

3'

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

89
.5

0'

30' B.S.L.

50
' B

.S
.L

.

L=59.07'
R=216.00'

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'

R2
0.

0'

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

20.00' 20.00'

20.00'

20.00'

SIGN ESM'T

SIGN ESM'T
LP-1

LP-2

LP-3

LP
-4

LP
-5

S0°41'16"W 101.64'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

75.0'

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 L
OCA

TI
ON

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 L
OCA

TI
ON

SC
AL

ED
 F

RO
M

 V
IL

LA
GE 

EX
HI

BI
T

106.15'

121.07'

INSTALL 2-8" W
ATER LINES IN ONE AUGER CASING

N8
8°

10
'24

"E
 1

46
.1

6'

148.05'

47.48'

3.00'

11.04'

30' B.S.L.

PROP. 50' ROW DEDICATION

30' B.S.L.

10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

10' PU&DE

S65°06'56"E 674.74'

50.23'

20' PU&DE

10
' P

U&
DE

8/
22

/2
02

2
R

FV
IS

SU
E 

FO
R

 R
EV

IE
W

11
/3

/2
02

2
R

FV
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

4/
20

/2
02

3
R

FV
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3

w
w

w
.m

g2
a.

co
m

 
25

62
0 

S
. G

O
U

G
A

R
 R

D
.  

  |
   

 M
A

N
H

A
TT

A
N

, I
L.

 6
04

42
P

. 8
15

-4
78

-9
68

0
  F

. 8
15

-4
78

-9
68

5

M
G

2A
 W

ES
T

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 L

IG
H

T
IN

G
 P

LA
N

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

1 1

STREETLIGHTING NOTES:

1. THE EXISTING STREETLIGHT AT WATERVIEW TRAIL IS AN ORNAMENTAL
LIGHT FIXTURE.

2. THE EXISTING STREETLIGHTS ON THE NORTH SIDE OF ST. FRANCIS
ROAD NEAR THE EAST AND WEST LINES OF THE SITE ARE MAST ARM
LIGHT FIXTURES.

3. THE LIGHT FIXTURES PROPOSED FOR THE SITE ARE VILLAGE OF
FRANKFORT STANDARD ORNAMENTAL LIGHT FIXTURES, EXCEPT THE
HEIGHT IS REDUCED TO 12' MAXIMUM (PER ZONING ORDINANCE).

4. NUMBER OF LIGHT FIXTURES PROPOSED IS FIVE (5)

REDUCE HEIGHT TO 9'-4" TO
COMPLY WITH VILLAGE 12' MAX.
 HEIGHT REQUIREMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

cgruba
Received



Tr
uc

k O
ve

rh
an

g

Out
er

 W
he

el 
Tr

ac
k

In
ne

r W
he

el 
Tr

ac
k

Truck 
Overhang

Outer W
heel Track

Inner W
heel Track

ST.   
 FRANCIS

    
ROAD

W
A

T
E
R
V
IE

W

T
R
A

IL
0+00

1+00

2+00

3+00

4+00

5+00

6+00

7+00

8+00

9+00

9+85

LOT 1
16,511 SQ.FT.

LOT 2
15,003 SQ.FT.

LOT 3
15,043 SQ.FT. LOT 4

15,187 SQ.FT.

LOT 5
15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 6
15,045 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,038 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
15,643 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 10
15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 11
15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 15
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 16
15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 17
15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 19

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,046 SQ.FT.

LOT 20

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 21

15,006 SQ.FT.

LOT 22

16,401 SQ.FT.

LOT 23

15,652 SQ.FT.

LOT 24

19,445 SQ.FT.

LOT 25

17,135 SQ.FT.

LOT 26

17,800 SQ.FT.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

L=204.20' R=65.00'

L=121.85'
R=150.00'

N24°57'30"E
89.79'

N24°57'30"E

89.70'

L=175.46'
R=216.00'

S21°35'04"E

30' B.S.L.

LO
T 

12
16

,0
96

 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

13
15

,0
21

 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

14
17

,0
46

 S
Q.F

T.

N27°07'28"W 154.56'

N8
8°

06
'26

"E
 1

63
.0

0'

S70°39'10"E 150.00'

S70°39'10"E 150.00'

S70°39'10"E 150.00'

S70°39'10"E 150.94'

S70°39'10"E 186.50'

N89
°2

1'0
2"

W
 15

3.3
3'

N80
°3

3'4
5"W

 15
7.5

5'

N70°39'10"W
 150.35'

N70°39'10"W
 144.52'

N70°39'10"W
 162.83'

S70°39'10"E 138.52'

S6
8°

24
'5

6"
W

43
.9

7'

S19°20'50"W

L=55.43'

R=150.00'

L=107.23' R=216.00'

L=67.04'
R=150.00'

100+00

101+00

102+00

103+00

104+00

105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

111+00

112+00112+18

    W
A
T
E
R
V
IE

W
    T

R
A
IL

P6
91
.5
0

P689.5
0

P6
92
.0
0

P
69
1.
50

P6
92
.1
0

P6
91
.4
0

P6
80
.5
0

P6
89
.2
0

P69
2.40

P6
91
.0
0

P6
91
.0
0

102.60'

102.70'

102.70'

102.60'

155.79'

103.14'

107.54'

N1°49'31"W 135.82'

106.15'

21.91'

66.00'

33.30'

9.18'

25.00'
79.28'

102.00'

110.82'

40.61'

66.24'

47.81'

N0°41'41"E 838.63'

N65°02'30"W 285.46'

106.12'

165.02'

35.00'

180.28'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

79.85'

100.00'

100.00'

53.86'

100.00'

64.54'

9.10'

19.06'

L=99.60'

L=
45

.0
9'

L=43
.9

1'

L=48.12'

L=87.42 '

N24°57'30"E 149.49'

N
59

°1
0'

12
"E

 1
93

.3
8'

N89
°1

8'2
1"

W
 14

5.9
6'N79

°26
'12

"W
 14

2.1
5'

N71°56'54"W
 135.96'

N8
8°

10
'24

"E
 1

46
.3

2'

S8
8°

10
'23

"W
 1

50
.0

3'

S8
8°

10
'24

"W
 1

50
.0

3'

N8
8°

10
'24

"E
 1

46
.4

8'

N16°04'22"E 102.17'

S63°31'42"E 139.14'

N
70

°3
7'

11
"E

 1
26

.9
7'

N
44

°1
1'

26
"E

 6
2.

88
'

S6
8°

24
'5

6"
W

43
.3

8'
L=

3 4
.8

4 '

L=59.25' L=41.20'

L=
68

.9
2'

L=40.13'

L=67.05'

L=20.18'

L=20.75'

L=52.37'

L=97.06'

L=26.04'

PROP. HOT TAPS (2)

W/ VALVE IN VAULT

EX. HYDRANT

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

19-09-15-300-002-0000

ZONING: RE - ESTATE RESIDENTIAL

USE: RELIGIOUS FACILITIES

19-09-15-102-078-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT/DETENTION

19-09-15-105-029-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT

15' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

20' PU&DE

25
' P

U&
DE

15
' P

U&
DE

PROP. STREETLIGHT, TYP.

OUT
LO

T 
B

DR
AI

NA
GE 

&

CO
NS

ER
VA

TI
ON 

EA
SE

M
EN

T

10
2,

83
6 

sq
.ft

.

OUT
LO

T 
A

DR
AI

NA
GE,

 D
ET

EN
TI

ON,
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LI

TY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

62
,2

53
 sq

.ft
.

N8
8°

06
'13

"E
 7

5.
12

'

N1°53'47"W 147.56' N73°15'08"W
 135.00'

S8
8°

04
'55

"W
 1

60
.0

0'

203.34'

98
.1

8'

10' PU&DE &

DETN ACCESS E.

15' PU&DE

25' PU&DE

S14°50'33"E 103.92'

S16°04'22"W
 84.85'

S16°04'22"W
 83.54'

S14°50'33"E 97.15'

25.38'

20
.6

8'

S25°07'52"W
 131.86'

141.41'

151.97'

133.00'

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&
DE

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

OUTLOT C

DRAINAGE, DETENTION &

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

68,768 SQ.FT.

54.82'

PR
OP.

 1
0' 

M
UL

TI
-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

PROP. 6' SIDEWALK

L=15.04'

OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.

OUTLOT D2,641 SQ.FT.

L=10.93'

19.29'

S8
8°

10
'27

"W
 1

50
.0

3'

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

89
.5

0'

30' B.S.L.

50
' B

.S
.L

.

L=59.07'
R=216.00'

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'

R2
0.

0'

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

20.00' 20.00'

20.00'

20.00'

SIGN ESM'T

SIGN ESM'T
LP-1

LP-2

LP-3

LP
-4

LP
-5

S0°41'16"W 101.64'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

75.0'

P
69
1.
20

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 L
OCA

TI
ON

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 L
OCA

TI
ON

SC
AL

ED
 F

RO
M

 V
IL

LA
GE 

EX
HI

BI
T

106.15'

121.07'

INSTALL 2-8" W
ATER LINES IN ONE AUGER CASING

N8
8°

10
'24

"E
 1

46
.1

6'

148.05'

47.48'

3.00'

11.04'

30' B.S.L.

P
68
2.
60

PROP. 50' ROW DEDICATION

30' B.S.L.

10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

P6
88
.9
0

10' PU&DE

S65°06'56"E 674.74'

50.23'

20' PU&DE

10
' P

U&
DE

8/
22

/2
02

2
R

FV
IS

SU
E 

FO
R

 R
EV

IE
W

11
/3

/2
02

2
R

FV
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

4/
20

/2
02

3
R

FV
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3

w
w

w
.m

g2
a.

co
m

 
25

62
0 

S
. G

O
U

G
A

R
 R

D
.  

  |
   

 M
A

N
H

A
TT

A
N

, I
L.

 6
04

42
P

. 8
15

-4
78

-9
68

0
  F

. 8
15

-4
78

-9
68

5

M
G

2A
 W

ES
T

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 F

IR
E

 T
R

U
C

K
 T

U
R

N
IN

G
 P

LA
N

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

1 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

cgruba
Received


	5.25.23
	PC Minutes 5.11.23 DRAFT
	Sage
	Rides
	Binder1
	Staff Report WORKSHOP 5.25.23 (Abbey Woods North)
	Binder1 without staff report
	1. GIS aerial 1-6000
	1. GIS aerial 1-3000
	2. FEMA map - east side
	2. FEMA map - west side
	3. NWI map
	4. Findings of Fact - Rezoning
	5. Bike path diagram 2019
	5. Table of lots (size-width-depth-avg)
	Sheet1

	6. 2008-Design_Standards excerpt
	7. SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE excerpt (cul-de-sac length)
	8. Tree Survey list 9.29.22
	9. Tree Survey 4.27.23
	10. Plat of Survey 4.27.23
	11. Plat of Annexation 4.27.23
	12. Preliminary Plat 4.27.23
	13. Wall diagram staff
	14. Landscape Plan 4.27.23
	15. Lighting Plan 4.27.23
	16. Truck Turning Plan 4.27.23



	Text1: All business will be conducted indoors and is typically by appointment only.
	Text2: All business will be conducted indoors and is typically by appointment only.
	Text3: The surrounding properties are already developed with buildings and parking lots.  The special use will not have any negative impact.
	Text4: All business will be conducted indoors and is typically by appointment only.  There will be no visible changes to the exterior of the building.
	Text5: The property is already developed with an existing building, parking lot and necessary utilities.
	Text6: The property already has two points of access onto Gulfstream Road.
	Text7: The special use will comply with all other requirements of the Village.


